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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’s  

REVIEW
Dear Shareholder

I am pleased to present the financial review for the nine 
months ended 31 December 2011, being the revised year-end 
for Goliath Gold Mining Limited (“Goliath Gold” or “the 
company”), formerly known as White Water Resources 
Limited (“WWR”). The 31 March year-end for the company 
has been amended to coincide with the 31 December 
year-end of Gold One International Limited (“Gold One”) in 
order to simplify administration and reduce costs. Goliath 
Gold will be at least 71%-owned by Gold One via Gold One’s 
wholly-owned subsidiary Gold One Africa Limited (“Gold One 
Africa”), upon the completion of the Goliath Gold transaction.

During March 2011, the creation of Goliath Gold was 
formally approved by both WWR shareholders and the 
South African Competition Commission, allowing for Gold 
One to reconstitute the Goliath Gold Board. Since then, the 
transaction has progressed steadily with a major milestone 
being reached during December 2011, when the South African 
Department of Mineral Resources (“DMR”) approved the 
transfer of the mining and prospecting licenses, previously 
acquired by WWR, to Goliath Gold. The remaining conditions 
precedent to the acquisition are administrative in nature 
and result from changes to Section 45 of the Income Tax 
Act of South Africa (Act 58 of 1962).  These changes have 
necessitated minor amendments to the proposed transaction 
structure in order to preserve tax neutrality.  

The conditions precedent were fulfilled or waived on 19 March 
2011, upon which Gold One’s Megamine Business was vended 
into Goliath Gold.  The Megamine Business comprises the 
Sub Nigel mine and the Vlakfontein, West Vlakfontein and 
Spaarwater prospecting areas, totalling 16,056 hectares, 
and collectively has an established resource base of over 
12 million resource ounces, compliant with the South African 
Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Mineral Reserves (“SAMREC Code”). Megamine’s resource 
currently comprises 3.02 million ounces in the indicated 
category (including 21.55 million tonnes at 4.36 grams per 
tonne) and 9.63 million ounces in the inferred category 
(including 64.62 million tonnes at 4.64 grams per tonne). 

The Wit Nigel prospecting area is located contiguous to and 
to the south of Megamine, and totals 21,000 hectares in 

extent.  During the nine months under review, exploration at 
Wit Nigel focused on enhancing the project’s geological and 
exploration models. A surface exploration drilling programme 
was initiated targeting both the Kimberley and Main Reef 
horizons. While no mineral resource had yet been declared 
for Wit Nigel during the period under review, the company 
intends to define a resource during 2012. 

While the company’s acquisition of the Megamine Business 
had not yet been completed during the nine months 
under review, Goliath Gold and Gold One entered into a 
management contract such that both parties could benefit 
from the synergy of shared costs, management and technical 
expertise. Goliath Gold’s strong management team has also 
continued to benefit from the support of a very competent 
and experienced board.  While both David Hodgson and 
Phil Lambert resigned during the period under review, the 
board welcomed the appointments of Jerry Vilakazi, who was 
appointed on 21 June 2011 and is the former CEO of Business 
Unity South Africa, and Piet Nel, who was appointed on 29 
July 2011 and has four decades of mining experience. Jerry and 
Piet have both joined the board as independent non-executive 
directors.

The extensive mining experience of Goliath Gold’s Board and 
management team, combined with the synergies facilitated by 
the company’s partnership with Gold One, place Goliath Gold 
in a prime position to execute its entrepreneurial approach 
to what is historically one of the largest gold districts in the 
world. I look forward to contributing to what is set to be an 
exciting future for Goliath Gold.

Neal Froneman
CEO
28 March 2012
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Chief executive Officer's review

The extensive mining experience 

of Goliath Gold’s Board and 

management team, combined with 

the synergies facilitated by the 

company’s partnership with Gold 

One, place Goliath Gold in a prime 

position to execute its entrepreneurial 

approach to what is historically one of 

the largest gold districts in the world. 
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CORPORATE PROFILE AND 

sTRUCTURE
History of Goliath Gold Mining Limited
(formerly White Water Resources Limited)

Goliath Gold, formerly WWR, is a South African incorporated exploration company listed on the main board of the JSE in the 
‘Mining: General Mining’ sector. The company was originally incorporated as Witwatersrand Nigel Limited on 3 May 1933 and 
was renamed as New Mining Corporation Limited on 20 January 1999. On 4 November 2002, New Mining Corporation Limited 
was renamed as Matodzi Resources Limited and thereafter, on 6 February 2009, the company was renamed as WWR. Subsequent 
to the general meeting of WWR held on 22 March 2011, the company changed its name to Goliath Gold on 26 April 2011 to 
better reflect the new intended nature of its business.

Goliath Gold holds the new order Wit Nigel Prospecting Right over the historic Witwatersrand Nigel Gold Mine, which is 
contiguous to certain assets comprised within Gold One’s Megamine Business, and will acquire the Megamine Business from 
Gold One upon the fulfillment of the acquisition’s remaining conditions precedent. The conditions precedent were fulfilled or 
waived on 19 March 2012.
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Corporate profile and Structure

Structure

The diagram set out below represents the structure of Goliath Gold as at 31 December 2011. 

*Refer to page 80 for detailed shareholder information.

The diagram set out below represents the future structure of Goliath Gold once the transaction has closed and the consideration 
shares have been issued to Gold One Africa.

# At least 71%.
** Goliath Gold’s Black Economic Empowerment partner.
*** The Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle (Pty) Limited will wholly own the Megamine Business and the Wit Nigel Prospecting Right.

public/Non-public equity Security Holders*

Goliath Gold

Brakfontein Diamante (Pty) Limited 
(held through IEN Investments (Pty) Limited)

Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited

Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle (Pty) Limited

Guild Hall No. 22 (Pty) Limited

IEN Investments (Pty) Limited

Newlands Minerals (Pty) Limited

Witnigel Investments (Pty) Limited

Gold One africa minority Shareholders

Goliath Gold

micawber 400 (pty) limited**

Far east Gold Special purpose Vehicle (pty) limited***

100%

100%

71%# 29%

74%

26%
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COmPANY� 

OVERVIEW
THE WIT NIGEL PROJECT
Project Description

The Wit Nigel project is located in the southern extremity of the East Rand Goldfield of the Witwatersrand Basin, some 55 
kilometres southeast of Johannesburg. It is accessible via both the N17 highway in the north and the N3 highway, which traverses 
Wit Nigel in a northwest-southeast direction.

Wit Nigel project area and Witwatersrand Basin regional geology (modified after McCarthy, 2006).
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Company Overview

The project area comprises 10 farms in the Highveld of the Gauteng Province, namely: Boschfontein 368 IR; Bothaskraal 393 IR; 
Heidelberg Townsland (Langlaagte) 186 IR; Houtpoort 392 IR; Klippoortjie 187 IR; Maraisdrift 190 IR; Noycedale 191 IR; Poortjie 
389 IR; Spaarwater 171 IR and Tulipvale 188 IR. The prospecting right is listed under DMR reference GP 30/5/1/1/2 (73) PR for 
gold, silver, uranium and pyrite ore.

Wit Nigel project area with farms, shafts and mined-out areas superimposed onto topocadastral map, with inset of 
topographic map extracted from Shuttle Radar Topography Mission.

The outcrops of Witwatersrand beds form the southern limb of a wide, east-west trending syncline between Johannesburg and 
Heidelberg (Rogers, 1922) and elevations vary between 1,400-1,900 metres above mean sea level, as illustrated in the inset of 
the illustration above. Two prominent elevated and hilly regions occur in Wit Nigel, one north of Heidelberg and the second in 
the southern portion of the project area, both of which trend southwest-northeast. 
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The Wit Nigel area is drained by the Blesbokspruit, a tributary of the Zuikerboschrand River that flows into the Vaal River, 3.2 
kilometres north of Vereeniging. The area is characterised by various types of wetlands and large water-filled pans, which are 
attributed to exposed Witwatersrand strata where Karoo cover is absent (Rogers, 1922). The area is also dominated by grassland, 
with most hills predominantly covered by Common Sugarbush (Protea Caffra). 

Geology

Stratigraphy of the East Rand Goldfield (modified after SACS, 2006).
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Company Overview

The Witwatersrand Basin occupies a central portion of the Archaean Kaapvaal Craton in South Africa. The Witwatersrand 
Supergroup is subdivided into two stratigraphic units, being the West and Central Rand Groups (depicted in the diagram on 
page 10). The West Rand Group consists mainly of shale and quartzite and is a generally finer-grained unit than the Central Rand 
Group, which is composed mostly of quartzite, conglomerate and minor amounts of shale (Catuneanu, 2001).

The East Rand Goldfield extends from the towns of Benoni and Brakpan in the northeast towards Nigel and Heidelberg in the 
southwest. It is characterised by northwest striking folds with two prominent anticlinal structures, namely, the Nigel Anticline 
and Springs Monocline. The stratigraphy of the East Rand Goldfield is depicted in the diagram on page 10.

The Nigel and Kimberley Reefs, including UK9a and MK2, are the prospective targets across the project area. The Nigel Reef has 
historically been the major ore producer. 

The surface geology between Heidelberg and Nigel is dominated by a cover of Karoo sandstone, conglomerate and shale, with 
minor coal seams (Rogers, 1922) and rocks of the Witwatersrand Supergroup outcropping over almost the entire Wit Nigel 
area. The Jeppestown Subgroup, which is the footwall to the Nigel Reef, is argillaceous with minor intrusions of quartz-dolerite 
(Rogers, 1922). The outcrop of the Nigel Reef is traceable along the eastern boundary of Wit Nigel, whereas the Kimberley 
outcrops strike northeast-southwest between Jameson Park and Heidelberg. 

Historical Background

The East Rand Goldfield has been one of the major gold producers of the Witwatersrand Basin, yielding some 320 million ounces 
at 8.2 grams per tonne. Gold production commenced in 1888 at Nigel Gold Mine, followed by Van Ryn Estates in 1892. The 
earliest reference to gold production in Wit Nigel is the registration of a company called Witwatersrand Nigel in 1933, with the 
commencement of operations on farm Houtpoort. 

History of the development of mining in the Wit Nigel area.

Year activitY

1933 - Registration of Witwatersrand Nigel and commencement of operations on farm Houtpoort

1938 - Acquisition of  farm Poortjie from East Rand Consolidated 

1940 - First declaration of gold production in the area

1945 - Commencement of development on the Nigel Reef on farm Poortjie after dewatering of No. 7 Shaft

1947 - No. 6 Shaft dewatered and connected to No. 7 Shaft at level 6 for exploratory development
- Total reserves of 330,000 tonnes with an average of 8.1 grams per tonne over stope width of 91 centimetres

1951 - Start of reduction works at No. 7 Shaft

1952 - Sinking of No. 3 Vertical Shaft

1957 - Start of development at No. 3 Vertical Shaft

1962 - Witwatersrand Nigel acquired mineral and mining rights for farms Maraisdrift, Tulipvale and Klippoortjie

1965 - Development work on Houtpoort suspended due to title difficulties, water problems and development results 
- Reserves on Houtpoort: 83,000 tonnes at an average gold grade of 7.6 grams per tonne 
- Reserves on Poortjie: 786,000 tonnes at an average gold grade of 9.5 grams per tonne

1974 - Deepening of No. 7 Shaft to level 27, which was suspended to level 18 due to financial reasons
- Decisions taken to sink No. 10 Vertical Shaft and build a reduction plant

1975 - Progression of underground development at No. 7 Shaft down dip in a northerly direction to 27 level

1981 - Approval of mining leases over Spaarwater and Klippoortjie
- No. 10 Shaft project suspended due to financial difficulties

1980 - Initiation of No. 10 Shaft project under State Assistance

1982 - Continuing problems forced the operations to remain above level 18 

1983 - Plans to recommence the No. 10 Shaft project
- Production statistics end of December: 8,396,000 tonnes milled, gold yield of 56,127.8 kilograms, at an average 

grade of 6.7 grams per tonne

1984 to 
current

- Subsequent to the above, no major mining took place
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The outcrops of both the Nigel and Kimberley Reefs are accompanied by numerous prospecting adits and shallow underground 
development, including winzes and ventilation shafts. The adjacent graph summarises the production and grade figures for 
Witwatersrand Nigel, compiled from the Transvaal Chamber of Mines’ Annual Reports.

In 2011, Venmyn Rand Limited compiled a Competent Person’s Report for the Wit Nigel area. Underground sampling information 
was captured into a database and used for statistical analysis and geological modelling. This information confirmed the continuity 
of gold mineralisation beyond the existing underground workings. To date, no SAMREC compliant mineral resources have been 
defined for the area.

Gold grade and associated tonnes milled at Witwatersrand Nigel.

 

exploration activities Undertaken in 2011

During the period under review, project activities at Wit Nigel have focused on combining newly obtained information from the 
surface mapping, sampling and drilling programmes with historical knowledge and data.

Data capture

The major sources of historical information were store rooms at mines, previous investigators, the DMR and the Council for 
Geosciences. Capture of historical data included underground sampling information from ore reserve tracing sheets, underground 
survey pegs from peg books, and borehole logs. Historical records for the majority of declines, trenches and winzes could not be 
sourced.

Summary of historical data captured for the Nigel Reef at Wit Nigel.

HiStoricaL Data caPtUreD No. of recorDS

On-Reef Pegs 6 595

Underground Sampling Data1 16 831

Boreholes

- Kimberley Reefs 45 
(including additional 28 deflections)

- Nigel Reef 28
(including additional 6 deflections)

 

1 Nigel Reef only
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Company Overview
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exploration Drilling Programme and expenditure

The exploration drilling strategy has considered the deep and the shallow Nigel Reef as two target groups. During 2011, 
14 deep boreholes were drilled, as illustrated below, of which 10 boreholes and 25 deflections of the Nigel Reef were sampled 
and assay results were received.  Drilling amounted to 8,098 metres at an associated cost of ZAR 7.5 million. Despite various 
drilling techniques being applied to the shallow drill programme, strongly fractured and oxidised Nigel Reef resulted in poor core 
recoveries. The shallow Nigel Reef drilling programme has thus been temporarily suspended.

Borehole positions of 2011 exploration drilling programme together with captured underground sampling data.

 



15

Company Overview

2011 exploration drilling results to date.

DiP correcteD

BH iD* reef DePtH (m)
BottoM coNtact

cHaNNeL tHickNeSS 
(cm)** g/t*** cm.g/t

SPNR1 Nigel Reef 621.97 57 37.55 2 145

SPNR1_1D Nigel Reef 621.95 65 11.59 753

SPNR1_2D Nigel Reef 621.79 54 17.81 965

SPNR1_3D Nigel Reef 621.99 49 8.69 428

SPNR1_4D Nigel Reef 622.13 56 10.81 607

 Average:  56 17.39 980

SPNR5 Nigel Reef 528.82 24 0.10 2

SPNR5_1D Nigel Reef 528.88 20 1.12 22

SPNR5_3D Nigel Reef 528.52 10 0.02 0

 Average:  18 0.46 8

SPNR6 Nigel Reef 418.81 33 5.66 184

SPNR6_1D Nigel Reef 418.93 31 8.18 250

SPNR6_2D Nigel Reef 418.79 30 5.62 166

SPNR6_3D Nigel Reef 418.86 31 11.00 341

 Average:  31 7.61 235

GG2_1D Nigel Reef 235.42 16 27.38 438

GG2_2D Nigel Reef 235.74 15 56.80 852

 Average:  16 41.61 645

GG1 Nigel Reef 594.62 14 0.58 8

GG1_1D Nigel Reef 594.83 12 0.88 10

GG1_2D Nigel Reef 594.66 9 0.62 5

GG1_3D Nigel Reef 594.42 10 1.18 12

 Average:  11 0.80 9

GG11_1D Nigel Reef 235.49 20 7.01 141

GG11_2D Nigel Reef 235.84 27 5.19 139

GG11_3D Nigel Reef 236.14 18 1.25 23

GG11_5D Nigel Reef 235.87 24 10.80 264

 Average:  22 6.32 142

GG3 Nigel Reef 884.90 157 9.74 1524

GG3_1D Nigel Reef 883.63 89 4.27 380

GG3_2D Nigel Reef 884.25 179 4.77 853

GG3_3D Nigel Reef 884.05 89 3.76 336

GG3_4D Nigel Reef 884.65 327 2.05 670

 Average:  168 4.48 753

GG4 Nigel Reef 410.56 11 0.68 7

GG4_1D Nigel Reef Awaiting Assay Results

GG4_2D Nigel Reef 410.56 13 0.22 3

 Average:  12 0.43 5

GG10_1D Nigel Reef 267.73 12 4.71 56

GG10_2D Nigel Reef 267.67 13 15.80 202

 Average:  12 10.48 129
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DiP correcteD

BH iD* reef DePtH (m)
BottoM coNtact

cHaNNeL tHickNeSS 
(cm)** g/t*** cm.g/t

GG12 Nigel Reef 143.77 12 3.11 36

GG12_1D Nigel Reef

Awaiting Assay ResultsGG12_2D Nigel Reef

GG12_3D Nigel Reef

* Results are only illustrated for boreholes with acceptable core recovery and completed quality assurance/quality control processes including the 
acceptable assay results associated with blank, duplicate and certified reference materials.

** Channel thickness represents the true, dip corrected thickness of the Reef. Dip corrections are undertaken based on dip measurements from core 
bedding angles.

*** Represents the average grade over the true thickness of the total reef, calculated using a weighted average of assayed grade from individual 
samples over the total channel thickness (individual sample lengths are typically between 15 centimetres and 30 centimetres).

Surface Mapping and Sampling

Detailed mapping of the Nigel Reef outcrop in the Wit Nigel project area resulted in the acquisition of valuable and detailed 
lithological and structural data. This information was compiled in a database and used to improve the project’s geological model, 
such as the 3D wireframe, as well as guide the exploration drilling programme and enhance the definition of potentially mineable 
open cast areas. Subsequently, suitable Nigel Reef localities were selected for sampling. Although these samples are useful in 
terms of geological modelling, the poor and discontinuous nature of the outcrop has resulted in many of these samples not being 
suitably representative for mineral resource estimation purposes.

Quality assurance/Quality control

Quality assurance/quality control (“QA/QC”) procedures were rigorously applied throughout the data capturing and processing 
procedures. This included cross-validation by data capturers, validation of database entries against the original ore reserve tracing 
sheets, peg books and borehole logs. Final QA/QC was applied during compilation of the final databases. 

The drill core samples were analysed by Performance Laboratories (Pty) Limited, registration number 1996/001447/07, in the 
Free State Province. This laboratory is accredited by the South African National Accreditation System, accreditation number 
T0385, for gold by fire assay and gravimetric finish, as well as for uranium by x-ray fluorescence. Monthly laboratory internal 
audits have been performed. 

Goliath Gold’s policies and procedures pertaining to sampling, sample submission and quality control are audited annually by an 
external auditing company. Certified reference materials (standards), blanks (silica sand) and duplicates are inserted at regular 
intervals as shown below. The error statistics of the analytical results are acceptable.

Number of standards and blanks inserted per 100 drill core samples.

Per 100 SaMPLeS GraDe (g/t)

No of Standard Amis0110 5 2.300

No of Standard Amis0103 6 4.730

No of Standard Amis0112 6 12.270

Total Number of Standards 17  

Number of Blanks 11 0.002

Geological Model

The amalgamation and synthesis of all the information detailed in this exploration report so far is currently being used to update 
the Wit Nigel geological model with particular reference to the palaeoenvironmental reconstruction for the Nigel Reef and 
associated controls on gold distribution.  To date the following observations have been made:
•	 Proximal/distal	relationships	are	defined	over	a	broad	(tens	of	kilometres)	palaeoplain
•	 Syn-depositional	structural	activity	(e.g.	Devon	Dome	and	Springs	Monocline)	has	had	minor	influence	on	Nigel	Reef	genesis
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•	 Reef	characteristics	suggest	that	topographic	variations	existed	during	reef	formation	(e.g.	Vogels	Valley)
•	 Distinct	payshoots	are	defined	at	Wit	Nigel,	which	facilitate	the	definition	of	homogeneous	domains

The geological modelling will be completed during 2012 and will be utilised to inform future resource estimation for Wit Nigel, 
which is also expected during 2012.

Planned activities for 2012

The Wit Nigel exploration strategy is aimed at confirming the up-dip resource previously modelled at Gold One’s Megamine 
Business. The drilling completed to date has largely confirmed the modelled selective nature of the orebody, which includes 
high grade “channelised” areas interspersed with lower grade “inter-channel” areas. The continuing shallow drilling and surface 
sampling programme is aimed at tracing these higher grade zones to the shallow, and ultimately outcropping, areas of the Nigel 
Reef orebody, such that future possible mining can commence in the shallower areas and move into the deeper portions of the 
orebody over time.

Based on the geological model and exploration activities undertaken to date, potential shallow underground and possible 
open cast mining targets have been identified, thereby guiding the project’s future exploration strategy. The planned major 
future activities include: continuing with the exploration drilling programme, which will be focused on three areas as depicted 
in the diagram below; finalising surface mapping and sampling; continuously updating the geological model; and, ultimately, 
performing a resource estimation.

Exploration drilling target areas planned for 2012.
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Exploration drilling planned for 2012.

area No. of BoreHoLeS PLaNNeD eStiMateD MetreS to Be DriLLeD

Maraisdrift/9 Shaft 4 1 200

Poortjie/1-3 Incline Shafts 13 1 170

Houtpoort/4 Shaft 8 400

References: 
Catuneanu, O. (2001). Flexural partitioning of the late Archaean Witwatersrand foreland system, South Africa. Sedimentary Geology. Vol 141-142, 
p. 95-112.

McCarthy, T.S. (2006). The Witwatersrand Supergroup. In: The Geology of South Africa (Johnson, M.R., Anhaeusser, C.R., and Thomas, R.J., eds.), 
Geological Society of South Africa, Johannesburg/Council for Geoscience, Pretoria, p. 155-186.

Robb, L.J. and Robb, V.M. (1998). Gold in the Witwatersrand Basin. In: The Mineral Resources of South Africa (Wilson, M.G.C. and Anhaeusser, C.R., 
eds): Handbook, Council for Geoscience, Vol. 16, p. 294-349.

Rogers, A.W. (1922). The geology of the country around Heidelberg. An explanation of the geological map, Department of Mines and Industries, 
Pretoria, 84pp.

SACS: South African Committee for Stratigraphy (2006). A revised stratigraphic framework for the Witwatersrand Supergroup. Lithostratigraph-
ic Series, Vol. 42, 7pp.

Transvaal Chamber of Mines, Annual Reports 1940-1984, Johannesburg.

Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited 
Prospecting Rights
Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited (“Corex”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Goliath Gold, holds eight greenfield 
prospecting rights which are widely scattered in Limpopo, Mpumalanga and North West Provinces and cover a variety of 
commodities including copper, zinc, vanadium, titanium, gold, silver, platinum group metals, coal and diamonds.

Goliath Gold has reviewed the greenfield prospecting rights and is of the opinion that the economic potential of any of the 
commodities listed in the rights are remote and further reduced by the size and scattered nature of the prospecting areas.

Management is of the opinion that little or no value can be attributed to the Corex prospecting rights and has decided to abandon 
all eight rights. Closure applications are currently in progress.
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The information in this Annual Report that relates to 
exploration results, mineral resources or ore reserves is based 
on information compiled by the following Competent Persons 
for the purposes of the SAMREC Code, and would not be 
materially different if quoted in accordance with the 2004 
edition of the  Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves.  

The overall Competent Person for the Gold One group is 
Dr Richard Stewart, who has a doctorate in geology and 
who is a professional natural scientist registered with the 
South African Council for Natural Scientific Professions 
(“SACNASP”), membership number 400051/04. Dr Stewart is 
also a member of the Geological Society of South Africa and 
is senior vice president: business development for Gold One, 
with which he is a full-time employee and which has entered 
into a management agreement with Goliath Gold. Dr Stewart 
has 12 years’ experience relevant to the style of mineralisation 
and type of deposit under consideration, and to the activity 
which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person for 
the purposes of the SAMREC Code.

The Competent Person for the Wit Nigel Prospecting area 
is Mr Quartus Meyer, who has a master’s degree in science 
(geology) and who is a professional natural scientist 
registered with SACNASP, membership number 400063/88. 
Mr Meyer is group exploration manager for Gold One, with 
which he is a full-time employee and which has entered into a 
management agreement with Goliath Gold. Mr Meyer has 25 
years’ experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and 
type of deposit under consideration, and to the activity which 
he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person for the 
purposes of the SAMREC Code.

Dr Stewart and Mr Meyer consent to the inclusion in this 
Annual Report of the matters based on information compiled 
by themselves in the form and context in which they appear.

Dr Stewart  Mr Meyer
28 March 2012  28 March 2012

COmPETENT PERsONs’ 

sTATEmENT
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DIRECTORATE

Mark Wheatley (50)
Non-executive chairman
BE (Chem ENG Hons 1), MBA

Mark Wheatley serves on the board of Gold One as lead 
independent director and previously served as chairman from 
May 2009 to February 2012.

Mark was managing director and CEO of BMA Gold, the 
predecessor company to Gold One, up to May 2009. Prior 
to BMA Gold, Mark served as CEO and, later, as chairman, 
of TSX-listed uranium miner Southern Cross Resources, 
which merged to become Uranium One, where Mark served 
as a non-executive director until the end of 2010. Mark was 
previously non-executive chairman of Norton Gold Fields and 
has also served as a non-executive director of St Barbara.

Mark’s early career includes 17 years with BHP Billiton, where 
he was involved in technical, commercial, planning and 
business development roles. This was followed by three years 
at Bankers Trust Australia in project finance, risk management 
and relationship management. Mark then spent three years 
with Gold Fields, where he was responsible for corporate 
development, and served extended periods as acting 
managing director prior to the merger with Delta Gold, which 
resulted in the creation of Aurion Gold. 

Keith Rayner (55)
Non-executive Deputy chairman and 
Lead independent Director
BCom, CTA, CA(SA)

Keith Rayner qualified as a chartered accountant in 1986 and 
has gained experience in corporate finance since 1987. Keith 
was employed within the HSBC Investment Banking Group 
until 2002, where he advised numerous listed companies 
on various corporate finance transactions. Keith currently 
continues to advise certain clients on a selective basis through 
KA Rayner Presentations, which specialises in corporate 
finance, regulatory advice and training presentations.

Keith is a past chairman of JSE-listed mineral company Afgem 
and has substantial experience in board and governance issues. 
In addition, Keith is also a member of the JSE Issuer Services 
Advisory Committee. Keith currently presents the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the Takeover Regulations on the Directors 
Induction Programme of the Alternative Exchange of the JSE, 
and teaches and examines candidates on the JSE’s Sponsor 
Development Programme. Keith also recently assisted the 
former Securities Regulation Panel in rewriting the Takeover 
Regulations for the Companies Act of South Africa (Act 71 of 
2008) (“Companies Act”) and was a member of the King III 
sub-committee, which wrote the governance principles for 
takeovers and mergers in 2009.

Keith has sat on various committees and working groups that 
compiled and re-edited both the SAMREC Code and the South 
African Code for the Reporting of Mineral Asset Valuation. In 
addition, Keith is a past member of the Accounting Practices 
Committee.
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Jerry Vilakazi (51)
independent Non-executive Director
BA, MA, MBA

Jerry Vilakazi was, up until the end of May 2011, CEO of 
Business Unity South Africa, prior to which he was managing 
director of the Black Management Forum. Jerry was appointed 
to the National Planning Commission and to the Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment Advisory Council by President 
Jacob Zuma, and was previously a member of the Public 
Service Commission. 

Jerry is currently the non-executive chairman of Netcare, the 
largest private healthcare group in South Africa, and holds 
non-executive directorships that include PPC and Palama 
Investments. Jerry has served on the King Committee on 
Corporate Governance, the National Anti-Corruption Forum, 
Business Against Crime, the SADC Employers’ Group and the 
EU-Southern Africa Business Council, as well as on various 
international business councils.

Piet Nel (70)
independent Non-executive Director
BSC, AEP

Piet Nel held various positions within Stilfontein Gold Mining 
for 11 years, including that of chief geologist and planning 
manager. Thereafter, he joined Gencor where he functioned 
as project leader for the company’s anthracite exploration. 
In 1982, Piet founded his own company, Geocapro Services, 
which continues to operate as a geological contracting 
concern to mining and exploration companies.

In 1987, Piet began a 15-year long managing directorship of 
the Geocapro Magnesite Mine, based in the Limpopo Valley 
and, during the following year, he also began a 14-year long 
managing directorship of Venmag, a magnesia processing 
company. Piet has also served as executive director of East 
Rand gold miner Petrex, which was sold to Bema Gold in 
2002, and subsequently served as managing director of Petrex 
for a period of two years.

Piet is also the founder of Petmin, a South African mining 
and processing company that was formerly known as Petra. 
After having previously served as non-executive chairman 
for Petmin for a period of 23 years, Piet currently serves 
as chairman of Petmin’s Technical Advisory and Review 
Committee.

Neal Froneman (52)
ceo
BSc Mech Eng, BCompt

Neal Froneman is also the CEO of Gold One, which he was 
appointed as during May 2009.

Neal is a registered professional engineer who holds a 
South African Government Mine Manager’s Certificate of 
Competency (Metalliferous) and a South African Government 
Mine Engineer’s Certificate of Competency, and has over 30 
years’ experience in the mining industry in gold and platinum. 

Neal was appointed CEO of Aflease Gold & Uranium Resources 
in April 2003, and was primarily responsible for the creation 
and development of Uranium One until his resignation in 
February 2008. During this period Neal was CEO of both 
Aflease Gold and Uranium One. Prior to joining Aflease Gold 
Neal was vice president and head of operations at Gold Fields, 
and has also held management and executive positions at 
Harmony Gold and JCI, among others.

Christopher Chadwick (43)
cfo
BCompt (Hons), CTA, CA(SA)

Christopher Chadwick is also the CFO of Gold One, which he 
was appointed as during May 2009.

Christopher joined Gold One (then still named Aflease 
Gold) as CFO in July 2008. Christopher has held executive 
positions in a wide range of industries, both with local South 
African companies and multinationals including Commercial 
Airways, New Age Beverages, The Kelly Group, Leo Burnett, 
Dell Computers and the Peu Group. Christopher qualified as a 
chartered accountant in 1991.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

sTATEmENT
introduction

The board of directors takes ultimate responsibility for the company’s adherence to sound corporate governance standards.

During the period under review, which has been shortened to nine months by the change in the financial year end from 31 March 
to 31 December, there was minimal financial and corporate activity occasioned by the fact that the transaction announced on 
13 October 2010, whereby the company will acquire Gold One’s Megamine Business, has not yet closed.  This report should be 
read against this background. 

The Code of Governance and Principles for South Africa as contained in King III came into effect on 1 March 2010.  The board is 
of the opinion that, for the period under review, the company has, except where otherwise indicated, applied the main principles 
of King III. 

Going forward, the best practice recommendations that are applicable to the company will be implemented. The principles 
contained in King III will be reflected in the company’s corporate governance structures and will be reviewed from time to time 
to take into account organisational changes.
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At the beginning of the financial period, the board consisted of:
Mark Wheatley
Non-executive chairman
Keith Rayner
Non-executive deputy chairman and lead independent 
director
Neal Froneman 
Chief Executive Officer
Christopher Chadwick 
Chief Financial Officer
David Hodgson
Independent non-executive director
Phil Lambert
Independent non-executive director

During the nine months under review, Phil Lambert retired 
at the annual general meeting and did not make himself 
available for election and David Hodgson resigned. Two new 
directors were subsequently appointed during the period 
under review, namely:
Jerry Vilakazi
Independent non-executive director
Piet Nel 
Independent non-executive director

Board of Directors

The company is governed by a unitary board which, as at 
31 December 2011, was made up of six members, three of 
whom were independent and two of whom were executive 
directors. The board discharges its duties in compliance with 
its policy requiring one director: one vote, with the chairman 
having a casting vote and no director having unfettered 
powers of decision making.

As at 31 December 2011, members of the board were as 
follows:

Non-Independent Non-Executive Chairman
Mark Wheatley (Mark is not regarded as being independent by 
reason of the fact that he serves as lead independent director 
on the Gold One board) 

Lead Independent Non-Executive Director and Deputy 
Chairman
Keith Rayner (appointed in terms of King III, given the fact that 
the chairman is not independent)

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Jerry Vilakazi
Piet Nel

Executive Directors
Neal Froneman (CEO)
Christopher Chadwick (CFO)

Board Purpose and function

The board will be guided in its actions by a board charter, which 
will be approved by the board in 2012 when the company 
becomes a subsidiary of Gold One Africa. In addition to the 
board charter, each committee will have its own charter, 
which will be aligned with the wording of King III.

The board charter will serve as a guide to board members 
regarding:
•	 The	purpose	and	role	of	the	board
•	 Board	responsibilities	and	authority
•	 Board	composition	
•	 Board	self-assessment.

Board appointments

As at 31 December 2011, the board’s composition did not 
comply with King III in that, inter alia, a majority of independent 
non-executive directors had not been appointed to the board. 
During the new financial year, the board will endeavour to 
make further appointments to the board taking cognisance of 
skills, experience, gender and racial composition to achieve 
an acceptable balance of members and to ensure that the 
majority of the members are independent non-executive 
directors in line with King III. While the Social and Ethics 
Committee (which incorporates the Corporate Governance 
and Nomination Committee) will be responsible for advising 
on appointments to the board, the board as a whole will be 
responsible for approving each appointment.

chairman and chief executive officer

The roles of the chairman and CEO are separate and distinct 
as required by King III. The chairman is not considered to 
be independent by reason of the fact that he also serves as 
the lead independent director of Gold One, which indirectly, 
through its wholly owned subsidiary, Gold One Africa, 
will soon become the holding company of Goliath Gold. 
As a consequence, Keith Rayner has been appointed lead 
independent non-executive director and deputy chairman in 
line with King III.

access to Management and the exploration 
areas and independent advice

Each director has unrestricted access to senior management 
and is free to attend management and technical meetings 
at their discretion. All non-executive directors are able to 
visit the prospecting areas and drill sites at any time. Board 
members have unrestricted access to company documents 
and records and can seek independent professional advice at 
the company’s expense.
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Board committees

To enable the board to discharge its responsibilities and duties, 
certain responsibilities of the board have been delegated to 
board committees. These committees are:
•	 Audit	Committee
•	 Social	and	Ethics	Committee	(incorporating	the	Corporate	

Governance and Nomination Committee)
•	 Remuneration	Committee
•	 Health,	 Safety,	 Environment	 and	 Sustainable	

Development Committee

Each committee, in conjunction with the board, is in the 
process of approving charters which, when approved, will 
be made available on the company’s website. All board 
committees are chaired by an independent non-executive 
director and, save for the Health, Safety, Environment and 
Sustainable Development Committee, on which an executive 
director is required to serve, comprise non-executive directors 
only.

The chairman of each committee will be required to submit 
reports and make recommendations to the board at each 
quarterly board meeting. All committee minutes will be 
included in the quarterly board packs provided to board 
members prior to board meetings. 

audit committee

The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the board in 
discharging its duties relating to the safeguarding of assets, 
the operation of adequate systems, financial control and 
reporting processes, and the preparation of accurate financial 
reports and financial statements in compliance with all 
applicable legal requirements and accounting standards. It 
also provides a forum for discussing the risk profile and risk 
management of the company. 

The Audit Committee’s purpose is to:
•	 Evaluate	 the	 performance,	 independence	 and	

effectiveness of the external auditors and to consider 
whether any non-audit services provided by the external 
auditors substantively undermine their independence as 
external auditors

•	 Discuss	 and	 review	 with	 the	 external	 auditors	 their	
engagement letter and the terms, scope and nature of the 
audit function, procedure and engagement, as well as the 
audit fee

•	 Review	 interim	 and	 annual	 results	 and	 any	 financial	
reports.

•	 Consider	and	satisfy	itself	as	to	the	appropriateness	of	the	
expertise and experience of the CFO.

During the nine months under review, the company was 
engaged in prospecting activities only and there was minimal 
corporate and financial activity.  Consequently, the Audit 
Committee’s activities were limited to reviewing the interim 
and annual financial statements and recommending to the 
board that same be approved.

As at 31 December 2011, the Audit Committee members were:
•	 Keith	Rayner	(chairman)
•	 Piet	Nel
•	 Jerry	Vilakazi

All the members are independent non-executive directors and 
are suitably skilled to serve on the committee. 

The chairman of the board, external auditors, CEO, CFO and 
senior financial manager are invited to all Audit Committee 
meetings. 

The external auditors are accredited with the JSE.

The audit committee confirms that the expertise and 
experience of the CFO has been considered, and the 
committee  is satisfied with the appropriateness thereof.

The Audit Committee has not yet developed a combined 
assurance model as introduced by King III but will ensure that 
a model is developed during the 2012 financial year.

Having regard to the current size and development status of 
the company, the Audit Committee will in the interim oversee 
both the internal audit process and risk management.  

Social and ethics committee (incorporating 
the corporate Governance and Nomination 
committee)

The Social and Ethics Committee will assist the board in the 
discharge of its duties and responsibilities with respect to: the 
selection, nomination and appointment of members of the 
board and members’ appointments to board committees; 
the coordination of an annual evaluation of the board, 
its committees and individual board members; and the 
development and annual review of the charters of the board 
and each board committee.    

As at 31 December 2011, the members of the Social and Ethics 
Committee (incorporating the Corporate Governance and 
Nomination Committee) were:
•	 Jerry	Vilakazi	(chairman)
•	 Keith	Rayner
•	 Piet	Nel

All members are independent non-executive directors.

The committee also has to ensure that the company has 
adequate systems and procedures for the education, 
development and orderly succession of senior managers and, 
at least annually, to review the short and long term succession 
plans for the CEO and other executive officers, and to report 
to the board on succession planning.

The committee is also responsible for ensuring that directors 
and employees are prohibited from dealing in company shares 
during closed and price sensitive periods.
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remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee will oversee the administration 
of the company’s remuneration strategy, including its share 
option and other equity-based incentive plans, and discharge 
the board’s responsibilities with respect to the remuneration 
of the CEO, its other executive officers and directors.

As at 31 December 2011, the members of the committee were:
•	 Piet	Nel	(chairman)
•	 Keith	Rayner
•	 Jerry	Vilakazi								

All members are independent non-executive directors.  

The CEO, CFO and company secretary are employed by Gold 
One and do not receive any remuneration from the company.  
In addition, no share options have been granted and, as a 
consequence, the committee has not been active during the 
nine months under review. 

Health, Safety, environment and 
Sustainable Development committee

The committee will assist the board in the discharge of its duties 
and responsibilities to oversee the management of policies, 
programmes and practices pertaining to occupational health 
and safety and environmental and sustainable development 
matters, including initiatives to promote the empowerment 
of historically disadvantaged South Africans.

The committee is responsible for advancing the goals and 
objectives set out in the Broad-Based Socio-Economic 
Empowerment Charter for the South African Mining 
Industry and for monitoring the company’s performance 
in implementing policies, programmes and practices with 
respect to the foregoing matters, and to consider and 
recommend modifications or amendments thereto in light of 
performance or changing requirements. 

As at 31 December 2011, the members of the committee were:
•	 Piet	Nel	(chairman)
•	 Neal	Froneman

The chairman of the committee is required to be an 
independent non-executive director and at least one member 
must be an executive director.

relations with Shareholders

Effective and on-going communication with shareholders is 
seen as a function of the company’s fundamental responsibility 
to keep shareholders informed.

All announcements and presentations are posted on the 
company’s website.

company Secretary 

The company secretary is required to support the chairman 
and the board in:
•	 Ensuring	the	effective	functioning	of	the	board
•	 Providing	 guidance	 to	 the	 chairman	 and	 the	 directors	

on their fiduciary responsibilities and duties within the 
regulatory and statutory environment

•	 Raising	 matters	 that	 may	 warrant	 the	 attention	 of	 the	
board.

All directors have unrestricted access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary.

As at 31 December 2011, the company secretary was Pierre 
Kruger.

Sponsor

As required by the JSE Listings Requirements, Merchantec 
(Pty) Limited is the company’s sponsor.

JSe Listings requirements compliance with 
Specific Governance requirements 

The board is satisfied, insofar as it is aware, that the company 
has complied with all the specific corporate governance 
requirements contained in Section 3 paragraph 3.84 of the 
JSE Listings Requirements during the financial period ended 
31 December 2011, which are evidenced elsewhere in this 
Corporate Governance Statement. 
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sTATEmENT OF REsPONsIbILITY� bY� 

DIRECTORs
The directors of Goliath Gold (formerly WWR) are responsible 
for the integrity of the integrated report as a whole as well 
as for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements of the company and group, which form an integral 
part of the integrated report.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with International Financial Reporting Standards requires 
management to consistently apply appropriate accounting 
policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgements 
and estimates.

The directors are satisfied that the information contained in 
the financial statements fairly presents the financial position 
at period-end and the financial performance and cash flows 
of the group and company for the nine months then ended.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that accurate and 
complete accounting records are kept to enable the company 
to satisfy its obligation with respect to the preparation of 
financial statements.

The directors are also responsible for the group’s system 
of internal controls. This responsibility includes designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

Goliath Gold and its subsidiaries operate in a control 
environment that incorporates risk management and internal 

control procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded and 
the risks facing the business are being controlled.

The group Audit Committee plays an integral role in risk 
management as well as overseeing the group’s integrated 
reporting.

The going-concern basis has been adopted in preparing the 
financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe 
that the group, or any company within the group, will not be 
a going concern in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts, 
available cash resources, available banking facilities and 
financial assets held for trading. These financial statements 
support the viability of the company and the group.

The group’s external auditors, PricewaterhouseCoop-
ers Incorporated, audited the company and group financial 
statements and their report is presented on page 29.

The external auditors were given unrestricted access to 
all financial records and related data, including minutes 
of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and 
committees of the board. The directors believe that all 
representations made to the independent auditors during 
their audit are valid and appropriate.

The financial statements were approved by the board of 
directors on 28 March 2012 and are signed on its behalf.

 Mark Wheatley   Neal Froneman
 Non-Executive Chairman CEO
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Statement of responsibility by Directors

Goliath Gold and its subsidiaries 

operate in a control environment that 

incorporates risk management and 

internal control procedures, which are 

designed to provide reasonable, but 

not absolute, assurance that assets are 

safeguarded and the risks facing the 

business are being controlled.
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COmPANY� 
sECRETARY�
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge, in terms of Section 
88 (2)(e) of the Companies Act the company has lodged with 
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission all such 
returns and notices as are required of a public company in 
terms of the Companies Act, and that all such returns and 
notices appear to be true, correct and up to date in respect of 
the financial period reported upon.

Pierre Kruger
Company Secretary
28 March 2012
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Independent auditor's report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
and financial statements of Goliath Gold Mining Limited, 
which comprise the consolidated and separate statements 
of financial position as at 31 December 2011, and the 
consolidated and separate statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows for the nine months 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information, and the Directors’ Report, 
as set out on pages 30 to 78.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, 
JSE requirements and the requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.  
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated and separate financial 
position of Goliath Gold Mining Limited as at 31 December 
2011, and its consolidated and separate financial performance 
and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the nine 
months then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, JSE requirements and the requirements 
of the Companies Act of South Africa. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated 
Director: HP Odendaal
Registered Auditor 
2 Eglin Road, Sunninghill
28 March 2012 

INDEPENDENT 

AUDITOR’s 
REPORT
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DIRECTORs’ 

REPORT
The directors present their report on the consolidated entity consisting of Goliath Gold and the entities it controlled for the nine 
months ended 31 December 2011.

1.  Directors

The names and details of the directors of the company in office during the financial year are:

NaMe Date of aPPoiNtMeNt Date reSiGNeD or retireD

Mark Wheatley 23 March 2011 -

Keith Rayner 23 March 2011 -

David Hodgson 23 March 2011 12 September 2011

Phil Lambert 23 March 2011 26 August 2011

Jerry Vilakazi 21 June 2011 -

Piet Nel 29 July 2011 -

Neal Froneman 23 March 2011 -

Christopher Chadwick 23 March 2011 -

2.  Directors’ Meetings

The number of meetings of directors held during the 
period and the number of meetings attended by each 
director while they were directors are as follows:

NaMe BoarD MeetiNG

Mark Wheatley 4/4

Keith Rayner 4/4

David Hodgson 2/3

Phil Lambert 2/2

Jerry Vilakazi 1/2

Piet Nel 2/2

Neal Froneman 4/4

Christopher Chadwick 4/4

3.  company Secretary

Pierre Kruger
BCom, LLB, H Dip Company Law

Pierre Kruger was appointed as company secretary of 
Goliath Gold in March 2011. Pierre is currently also 
the group company secretary of Gold One. Prior to his 
appointment as company secretary of Gold One in May 
2009, Pierre served as a non-executive director for Aflease 
Gold. Pierre practiced as an attorney, conveyancer and 
notary public for a period of 26 years prior to joining the 
Gold One group on a fulltime basis in January 2007.
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4.  Main Business and operations

The company’s main business is that of a mining 
exploration company. Its subsidiaries are primarily 
engaged in the resource sector. The company has a 
primary listing on the JSE, issuer code: GGM. 

The Goliath Gold group made a net profit of 
ZAR 1.0 million for the nine months ended 
31 December 2011 (net loss of ZAR 6.1 million for the 
year ended 31 March 2011), which arose mainly as a 
result of: the profit on the sale of financial assets held for 
trading; fair value adjustments on investment properties 
and financial assets held for trading; and a reduction 
in operating expenses resulting from Gold One’s 
management of the Goliath Gold group. 

The company’s net loss reduced to ZAR 1.6 million for 
the nine months ended 31 December 2011 (net loss of  
ZAR 4.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2011) mainly 
as a result of: a reduction in operating expenses; an 
increased profit from the sale of financial assets held for 
trading; and the reversal of debt relating to loans and 
dividends payable that prescribed during the period, 
which was partially offset by lower finance income. 

5.  authorised and issued Share capital

The company’s authorised ordinary share capital of 
200,000,000 ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each remained 
unchanged during the period under review.

The ordinary share capital of the company was 
consolidated in the ratio of one share for every 10 shares 
held on 13 May 2011.

The company had 42,462,958 ordinary shares of 
ZAR 2.50 each in issue as at 31 December 2011 .

The number of unissued shares as at 31 December 2011 
was 157,537,042.

Detail of the company’s authorised and issued share 
capital is set out in note 20 of the financial statements.

6.  Dividends

No dividends were declared or paid to the shareholders 
during the nine months under review.

7.  Matters Subsequent to the end of the 
financial Period

In the opinion of the directors, no other matter or 
circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2011 other 
than:

•		 One	 million	 treasury	 shares	 held	 by	 Witnigel	
Investments (Pty) Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Goliath Gold) in Goliath Gold were issued for 
cash to an unrelated third party on 27 January 
2012. These shares were sold for a consideration of 
ZAR 3.34 million.

•	 On	8	 February	 2012,	 eight	 prospecting	 rights	were	
granted to Goliath Gold in the district of Vredendal 
in the Western Cape for the prospecting of heavy 
minerals and rare earths. The date of execution is 
currently being arranged.

•	 On	 19	 March	 2012,	 all	 outstanding	 conditions	
precedent to the acquisition of the Megamine 
Business (as described in note 13 of the 
Directors’ Report) were fulfilled or waived, as 
the case may be. Goliath Gold was relisted on 
28 March 2012 and the mandatory offer by Gold One 
Africa to the Goliath Gold shareholders to acquire all 
of their shares for a consideration of one Gold One 
share for every 1.2 Goliath Gold shares held, was 
opened on that date. The offer remained open as at 
the date of release of the integrated report.

8.  Directors’ interests

None of the directors or their associates holds any 
beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly, in the 
share capital of the company.

9.  Litigation

There were no pending litigations as at 31 December 
2011.

10. Directors’ remuneration and Benefits

Details of the company’s directors’ remuneration and 
benefits are set out in note 29 of the financial statements.
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11. corporate information

The financial statements for Goliath Gold for the nine 
months ended 31 December 2011 were authorised for 
issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 
28 March 2012.

Goliath Gold is a company limited by shares that is 
incorporated and domiciled in South Africa and whose 
shares are publicly traded on the JSE. Goliath Gold has 
prepared financial statements incorporating the entities 
it controlled during the financial period.

12.  interest in Subsidiaries

Details of the company’s subsidiaries are set out in  note 
14 of the financial statements.

The company has signed letters of support and, where 
required, subordination agreements for the subsidiary 
companies.

13. Significant changes in the State of 
affairs

acquisition of Megamine Business

The company has entered into an acquisition agreement 
in terms of which Goliath Gold will acquire the 
Megamine Business of Gold One Africa, for an acquisition 
consideration of ZAR 262,229,868. This consideration 
will be settled by way of the issue of 104,891,947 shares 
of ZAR 2.50 each, known as the consideration shares, to 
Gold One Africa.

Subject to the fulfilment or waiver, as the case may be, 
of the conditions precedent set out in the acquisition 
agreement, and following the issue of the consideration 
shares, there will be a change in control in Goliath Gold 
and Gold One Africa will thereafter hold a controlling 
interest of at least 71% in Goliath Gold. This type of 
transaction is known as a reverse acquisition.

In accordance with the Companies Act and the Takeover 
Regulations, a mandatory offer by Gold One Africa to the 
Goliath Gold shareholders to acquire all of their shares 
for a consideration of one Gold One share for every 
1.2 Goliath Gold shares held was opened on 
28 March 2012.

Gold One, the holding company of Gold One Africa, 
believes that the Megamine Business can be more 
effectively developed by vending the assets into Goliath 
Gold. This is anticipated to result in an unlocking of 
value that can be passed on to Gold One shareholders 
through their retained majority interest in Goliath Gold. 
In addition, the acquisition is anticipated to provide 
Goliath Gold shareholders with access to a wider asset 
base and further management experience and expertise 
in exploration, development and mining.

The effective date of the acquisition shall be five business 
days after the fulfilment or waiver, as the case may be, 
of all conditions precedent to the acquisition which 
are mainly administrative in nature. The conditions 
precedent were fulfilled or waived on 19 March 2012.

Disposal of Gold one Shares

Goliath Gold and its subsidiaries disposed of 5,333,101 
Gold One shares out of its shareholding of 7,833,040 Gold 
One shares on 28 December 2011, for a consideration of 
ZAR 24,101,883.

change in Year end

In order to simplify administration and reduce costs, 
the 31 March year-end of Goliath Gold was amended 
to coincide with the 31 December year-end of the 
company’s new majority shareholder, Gold One, as 
announced on 9 December 2011.

14. Special resolutions

The resolutions below were passed at a meeting of 
shareholders on 22 March 2011 and took effect on 
15 April 2011, being the date of registration.

•		 The	 authorised	 preference	 share	 capital	 of	Goliath	
Gold, comprising 130,000,000 variable rate 
redeemable convertible participating “A” preference 
shares with a par value of ZAR 0.01 each and 
200,000,000 unsecured redeemable convertible 
participating “B” preference shares with a par value 
of ZAR 0.01 each, were cancelled.

•		 The	 ordinary	 share	 capital	 of	 Goliath	 Gold	 to	 be	
consolidated in the ratio of one new Goliath Gold 
ordinary share for every 10 Goliath Gold ordinary 
shares held.

•		 The	 authorised	 share	 capital	of	Goliath	Gold	 to	 be	
increased from 75,000,000 post consolidation 
ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each, to 200,000,000 
post consolidation ordinary shares of ZAR 2.50 each, 
equating to an increase from 750,000,000 pre-
consolidation ordinary shares of ZAR 0.25 each, to 
2,000,000,000 pre-consolidation ordinary shares of 
ZAR 0.25 each.

•		 The	name	of	the	company	to	be	changed	from	WWR	
to Goliath Gold.

•		 The	disposal	by	the	company	in	terms	of	Section	228	
of the South African Companies Act, Act 61 of 1973, 
of the Sub Nigel 1, 2 and 3 Mining Right (Mining 
Right GP 28 MR) on certain portions of the farms 
Spaarwater 171 IR, Droogebult 170 IR, Deelkraal 203 
IR, Noycedale 191 IR, Varkensfontein 169 IR, and 
Grootfontein 165 IR in the district of Nigel; the Sub 
Nigel 1, 2 and 3 Surface Rights (62/88 RMT 0103/88 
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– reduction works with fencing, 428/89 RMT 98/88 – offices with fencing and 112/88 RNT 018/88 – shaft equipment with 
fencing) on the farm Varkensfontein 169 IR in the district of Nigel; the Spaarwater Prospecting Right (Prospecting Right 
GP 45 PR) on certain portions of the farms Vlakfontein 161 IR, Zonnestraal 163 IR and Spaarwater 171 IR in the district 
of Nigel; the Vlakfontein Prospecting Right (Prospecting Right GP 260 PR) on certain portions of the farms Vlakfontein 
130 IR and Grootfontein 165 IR in the district of Nigel; and the West Vlakfontein Prospecting Right (Prospecting Right 
GP 142 PR) on certain portions of the farms Withoek 131 IR, Spaarwater 171 IR, Tsakane 260 IR, Zonnestraal 163 IR and 
Vlakfontein 161 IR in the districts of Nigel and Brakpan; together with certain plant, equipment, employees and service 
contracts related thereto and the assets of the company as described in the acquisition agreement dated 12 November, 
2010, entered into between Goliath Gold, Gold One and Gold One Africa, to Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle (Pty) 
Limited, in which the company will hold 71%.

•		 The	amendment	of	the	articles	of	association	of	Goliath	Gold	as	tabled	at	the	general	meeting.

15.  auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated continues in office in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act.

16. annual General Meeting

Notice of the forthcoming annual general meeting, which is to be held at Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview 
House, ground floor, corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter Street, Weltevreden Park, at 9am on Wednesday, 
6 June 2012 is set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting on pages 82 to 86. Additional copies of the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting may be obtained from the company’s corporate contacts and the transfer secretaries or may be accessed 
via the company’s website.
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Goliath Gold Mining Limited (formerly White Water Resources Limited)
Financial Statements for the 9 months ended 31 December 2011

Contents
The reports and statements set out below comprise the financial statements presented to the shareholders:

Page

Statements of Comprehensive Income 36

Statements of Financial Position 37

Statements of Changes in Equity 38

Statements of Cash Flows 39

Notes to the Financial Statements 40 - 78

The financial statements cover the financial statements for the consolidated entity, consisting of Goliath Gold
Limited ("Goliath Gold") and its subsidiaries, as well as the company financial statements. These financial
statements are presented in South African Rands (ZAR).

Goliath Gold is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in South Africa. Its registered office is as
follows:

Goliath Gold Mining Limited

1933/004523/06
Empire Office Park
55 Empire Road
Parktown, 2193
South Africa

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity’s operations and its principal activities is included in the
Directors’ Report, set out on pages 30 to 33, which forms part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 28 March 2012. All press releases,
financial statements and other information are available in the investors section of the company’s website.

Preparer

This financial report was prepared under the supervision of:
Nico Nieuwenhuis
Chartered Accountant (SA)
Vice President: Finance
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
Group Company

9 months 12 months 9 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Other income 2 082 737 2 082 737

Operating expenses 5 (11 021) (14 232) (32 132) (36 833)

Fair value adjustments 6 4 018 8 144 718 1 586

Profit on sale of financial assets 8 101 333 2 407 338

Exploration and pre-feasibility expenditure (1 039) (1 776) (979) (1 776)

Operating profit / (loss) before
finance income / (costs) 2 141 (6 794) (27 904) (35 948)

Finance income 7 493 257 26 359 31 439

Finance costs 8 (3) - (20) (26)

Profit / (Loss) before taxation 2 631 (6 537) (1 565) (4 535)

Income tax 9 (1 655) 392 - 392

Profit / (Loss) for the period 976 (6 145) (1 565) (4 143)

Other comprehensive income - - - -

Total comprehensive income / (loss) 976 (6 145) (1 565) (4 143)

Profit / (loss) attributable to :

Owners of the parent 976 (6 145) (1 565) (4 143)

Total comprehensive income / (loss)
attributable to:

Owners of the parent 976 (6 145) (1 565) (4 143)

Earnings / (Loss) per share (cents)

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per
share 10 2.3 (1.6)
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Financial Statements for the 9 months ended 31 December 2011

Statement of Financial Position
Group Company

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Investment property 12 3 825 3 107 3 825 3 107

Property, plant and equipment 13 23 17 23 17

Investments in subsidiaries 14 - - 29 010 24 245

3 848 3 124 32 858 27 369

Current Assets

Loans to related parties 15&28 - - 41 1

Other financial assets 16 10 813 23 515 15 4 769

Receivables 18 1 109 - 1 109 -

Cash and cash equivalents 19 32 887 8 124 15 932 8 124

44 809 31 639 17 097 12 894

Total Assets 48 657 34 763 49 955 40 263

Equity and Liabilities

Equity
Share capital 20&21 303 942 305 504 305 642 307 204

Accumulated loss (273 874) (274 850) (272 482) (270 917)

Total Equity 30 068 30 654 33 160 36 287

Liabilities

Non-Current Liabilities

Deferred taxation 22 553 - - -

Current Liabilities

Loans from related parties 15&28 16 364 - 16 364 -

Other financial liabilities 23 - 1 253 - 1 253

Current tax payable 1 224 122 - -

Trade and other payables 24 448 2 734 431 2 723

18 036 4 109 16 795 3 976

Total Liabilities 18 589 4 109 16 795 3 976

Total Equity and Liabilities 48 657 34 763 49 955 40 263
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Share capital

Accumulated
loss Total equity

R '000 R '000 R '000

Group

Balance at 01 April 2010 292 489 (268 705) 23 784
Changes in equity
Total comprehensive loss for the period - (6 145) (6 145)
Issue of shares 13 015 - 13 015

Total changes 13 015 (6 145) 6 870

Balance at 01 April 2011 305 504 (274 850) 30 654

Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income for the 9 months
ended 31 December 2011 - 976 976
Share consolidation expense (1 562) - (1 562)

Total changes (1 562) 976 (586)

Balance at 31 December 2011 303 942 (273 874) 30 068

Company

Balance at 01 April 2010 294 189 (266 774) 27 415
Changes in equity -
Total comprehensive loss for the period - (4 143) (4 143)
Issue of shares 13 015 - 13 015

Total changes 13 015 (4 143) 8 872

Balance at 01 April 2011 307 204 (270 917) 36 287

Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income for the 9 months
ended 31 December 2011 - (1 565) (1 565)
Share consolidation expense (1 562) - (1 562)

Total changes (1 562) (1 565) (3 127)

Balance at 31 December 2011 305 642 (272 482) 33 160

Note/(s) 20&21
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Statement of Cash Flows
Group Company

9 months 12 months 9 months 12 months
ended ended ended ended

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
Note R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 25 (14 339) (11 179) (13 796) (11 166)

Finance income 275 165 260 165

Finance costs (3) - (20) (26)

Net cash from operating activities (14 067) (11 014) (13 556) (11 027)

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 13 (14) (25) (14) (25)

Proceeds from sale of financial assets 24 103 6 678 7 161 6 517

Loans advanced to related parties (61) (1 574) (61) (1 574)

Loans repaid by group companies - - (355) -

Loans advanced to third parties - (15) - (15)

Net cash from investing activities 24 028 5 064 6 731 4 903

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share issue 20 - 13 015 - 13 015

Share consolidation expense 21 (1 562) - (1 562) -

Loans received from related parties 16 364 - 16 364 -

(Decrease) / increase in loans from
subsidiaries

- - (169) 310

Net cash from financing activities 14 802 13 015 14 633 13 325

Total cash movement for the period 24 763 7 065 7 808 7 201

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the period 8 124 1 059 8 124 923

Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the period 19 32 887 8 124 15 932 8 124
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Goliath Gold Mining Limited (formerly White Water Resources Limited)
Financial Statements for the 9 months ended 31 December 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements

1. Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied by the group and company and are consistent
with those applied in the previous financial year and corresponding interim reporting period. 

1.1.Basis of preparation

The financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2011 have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), the Companies Act 2008 (Act 71 of 2008) and the JSE
Listings Requirements. The annual financial statements have been prepared using a combination of the
historical cost basis and the fair value basis of accounting. The categories to which the fair value basis of
accounting has been applied are included in the individual accounting policy notes below.

The financial statements are presented in Rands, rounded to the nearest thousand which is the group's
functional currency.

1.2 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation

The financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Goliath Gold as at
31 December 2011 and the results of all subsidiaries for the nine months then ended. Goliath Gold and its
subsidiaries together are referred to in these financial statements as the group or the consolidated entity.

Control exists when the company has the power to govern the financial and operating policies generally
accompanying a shareholding of more than half of the voting rights of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible
are considered when assessing whether the group controls another entity.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the financial statements from the effective date of acquisition to
the effective date of disposal and are no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Adjustments are made when necessary to the results of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line
with those of the group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated in full on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified and recognised
separately from the group's interest therein and are recognised within equity. Losses of subsidiaries
attributable to non-controlling interests are allocated to the non-controlling interest even if this results in a
debit balance being recognised for non-controlling interest.

Transactions which result in changes in ownership levels, where the group has control of the subsidiary both
before and after the transaction are regarded as equity transactions and are recognised directly in the
statement of changes in equity. 

The difference between the fair value of consideration paid or received and the movement in non-controlling
interest for such transactions is recognised in equity attributable to the owners of the parent.

The results of associates are included in the group's results according to the equity method from acquisition
date until disposal date.

Where a subsidiary is disposed of and a non-controlling shareholding is retained, the remaining investment
is measured at fair value with the adjustment to fair value recognised in profit or loss as part of the gain or
loss on disposal of the controlling interest.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.2 Consolidation (continued)

Business combinations

A business combination is a transaction or other event in which an acquirer obtains control of one or more
subsidiaries. An acquirer shall be identified for all business combinations. The acquirer is the combining
entity that obtains control of the other combining entities or businesses.

The group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. The cost of the
business combination is measured as the aggregate of the fair values of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed and equity instruments issued. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are
expensed as incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest
and costs to issue equity which are included in equity.

A reverse acquisition occurs when the acquirer is the entity whose equity interests have been acquired and
the issuing entity is the acquiree. This might be the case when a private entity arranges to have itself
"acquired" by a smaller public entity as a means of obtaining a stock exchange listing. Although legally the
issuing entity is regarded as the parent and the private entity is regarded as the subsidiary, the legal
subsidiary is the acquirer if it has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the legal parent
so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Reverse acquisition accounting applies only to the consolidated financial statements.

1.3 Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3 of the notes to
the financial statements.

1.4 Investment property

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, and only when, it is probable that the future economic
benefits that are associated with the investment property will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the
investment property can be measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or
service a property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

Fair value

Subsequent to initial measurement investment property is measured at fair value.

A gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is included in net profit or loss for the period in which it
arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.5 Property, plant and equipment

Mining assets

(i) Mining exploration

Exploration costs are expensed as incurred. When there is a high degree of confidence in the project's
viability and it is probable that the project will return future economic benefits to the group, all further pre-
production expenditure is capitalised. These costs include evaluation costs.

(ii) Undeveloped properties

Undeveloped properties include land as well as mineral and surface rights. Land is measured at cost and is
not depreciated. Mineral and surface rights are initially recorded at cost of acquisition and subsequently
carried at cost less impairment.

Capitalised expenditure on undeveloped properties is reviewed for impairment at each reporting date. In the
case of undeveloped properties, there may be only inferred resources to form a basis for the impairment
review. When there is little likelihood of mineral rights being exploited, or the value of mineral rights have
diminished below cost, an impairment loss is recognised against income in the period that such
determination is made.

Subsequent recovery of the resulting carrying value depends on successful development of the area of
interest or sale of the project. If a project does not prove viable, all irrecoverable costs associated with the
project are written off.

Other plant and equipment

Other plant and equipment include furniture and fittings and computer equipment.

Other plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. The cost of other plant and equipment includes
amounts incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of other plant and equipment and amounts incurred
subsequently to add to or replace part of the asset. Replacement costs include the cost of major
inspections. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. Day-to-day servicing costs, such as
labour and consumables, are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income.

Other plant and equipment are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided on other plant and equipment to write down the cost, less residual value, on a
straight line basis over their useful lives as follows:

Item Average useful life
Furniture and fixtures 3 - 10 years
Computer equipment 3 years

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change
in accounting estimate.

Where a part of an item of property, plant and equipment is significant in relation to the cost of the item, that
part is depreciated separately. The depreciation charge is recognised as an expense in the statement of
comprehensive income.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss and calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the item at the date of derecognition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1.6 Investments in subsidiaries

Company financial statements

In the company’s separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
accumulated impairment. 

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of:
 The fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity

instruments issued by the company; plus
 Any costs directly attributable to the purchase of the subsidiary.

An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of
the combination if the adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.

Investments in subsidiaries include loans advanced to the subsidiaries by the holding company.

1.7 Investments in associates

Company financial statements

An investment in an associate is carried at cost less any accumulated impairment. 

1.8 Financial instruments

Classification

The group classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:
 Held for trading;
 Loans and receivables; and
 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired. Management
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition.

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instruments.

The group classifies financial instruments, or their component parts, on initial recognition as a financial
asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangement.

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, except for equity investments for which a fair value
is not determinable, which are measured at cost and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets.

For financial instruments which are not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs are included in
the initial measurement of the instrument.

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from investments have expired or
been transferred and the group has transferred all risks and rewards of ownership.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or has expired.
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1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Subsequent measurement

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair value being included in profit or loss for the period.

Net gains or losses on the financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss exclude dividends and
interest.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss as part of other income when the group's right to receive
payment is established.

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method,
less accumulated impairment losses.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity until the asset is disposed of or determined to be impaired. 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date the group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets has
been impaired.

For amounts due to the group, significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy and default of payments are all considered indicators of impairment.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses are reversed when an increase in the financial asset's recoverable amount can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the restriction that the
carrying amount of the financial asset at the date that the impairment is reversed shall not exceed what the
carrying amount would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Reversals of impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except for equity investments classified as
available-for-sale.

Where financial assets are impaired through use of an allowance account, the amount of the loss is
recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When such assets are written off, the write off is
made against the relevant allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against operating expenses.

Loans to / (from) group companies

These include loans to and from holding companies and fellow subsidiaries and are recognised initially at
fair value plus direct transaction costs.

Subsequently these loans are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any
impairment loss recognised to reflect irrecoverable amounts. The amortised cost results in the accrual of
interest in each period by applying the effective interest rate implicit to the loan to the outstanding balance
on the loan. Any repayments received or paid reduce the loans.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial assets of
financial liability.
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1.8 Financial instruments (continued)

Loans payables that bear no interest and where there are no determinable terms of repayment are included
in the current liabilities, unless the company has an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12
months from the statement of financial position date. If the liability is included in non-current liabilities, it is
assumed that repayment will only occur after 12 months from the statement of financial position date. Any
adjustment arising from applying the effective interest rate method over a 12 month period is ignored if it is
immaterial and the loan is recorded at cost.

On loans receivable an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that it
is impaired. The impairment is measured as the difference between the investment's carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase in the investment's recoverable
amount can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to the
restriction that the carrying amount of the investment at the date of the impairment have not been
recognised.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method less provision for impairment. Appropriate
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisations and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days
overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of
the loss is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it
is written off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited against in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Trade and other payables

Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement of financial
position.

Other financial liabilities

Interest-bearing debt

Interest-bearing debt are measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method.

Non-interest-bearing debt

Non-interest bearing debt is initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.
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1.9 Current and deferred income tax

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount
already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is
recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities / (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
paid to / (recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the statement of financial position date.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the
deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the
time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit / (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised. A deferred tax asset is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit /
(tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balance relate to the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised
directly in equity.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the
period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:
 A transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or
 A business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to
items that are credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.
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1.10 Leases

A lease is an agreement whereby the lessor conveys to the lessee in return for a payment or a series of
payments the right to use an asset for an agreed period of time. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as an operating
lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating leases – lessee

Operating lease payments (net of any incentive received from the lessor) are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

1.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that non-financial assets may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also:
 tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful life or intangible assets not yet available for use for

impairment annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment
test is performed during the annual period and at the same time every period; and

 tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation
decrease.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised
in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.
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1.12 Contributed equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

1.13 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered,
such as paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are
recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.

The expected cost of profit sharing and bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal
or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past performance.

1.14 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when:
 The group has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
 It is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the

obligation; and
 A reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The amount of the provision is discounted using a pre-tax discount rate when the effect of the
expected future cash outflow related to the provision expected to occur soon after the reporting date and the
effect of discounting is material. Provisions are reviewed annually to reflect current best estimates of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation.

1.15 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents the
amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade
discounts, volume rebates and value added tax.

Interest is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Dividends are recognised, in profit or loss, when the company’s right to receive payment has been
established.

1.16 Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings.

Finance costs are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which it is incurred.
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1.17 Translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the group are measured using the currency that
best reflects the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity ("the
functional currency"). The consolidated statements are presented in South African Rand ("ZAR"), which is
the group's presentation currency

Transactions and balances

A foreign currency transaction is recorded in ZAR on initial recognition by applying the spot exchange rate in
ZAR at the date of the transaction.

At the end of the reporting period:
 Foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
 Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated

using the exchange rate at the date of transaction; and
 Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the

exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at rates
different from those at which they were translated on initial recognition during the period or in previous
financial statements are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences
on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as a fair value gain or loss.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign
currency amount, the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of cash flow. 

1.18 Earnings or loss per share

Basic earnings / loss per share

Basic earnings or loss per share is computed by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the company,
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by weighted average number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares during the year and
excluding treasury shares.

Diluted earnings / loss per share

Diluted earnings or loss per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings or loss per
share to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with
dilutive potential ordinary shares, and weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

1.19 Change in year-end

In order to simplify administration and reduce costs, it was announced on 9 December 2011 that the
31 March year end of Goliath Gold has been amended to coincide with the 31 December year end of its new
majority shareholder, Gold One Africa.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations not yet effective

The group has chosen not to early adopt any of the standards and interpretations, which have been
published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 January 2012 or
later periods:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

This new standard is the first phase of a three phase project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement.  Phase one deals with the classification and measurement of financial
assets.  The following are changes from the classification and measurement rules of IAS 39:
 Financial assets will be categorised as those subsequently measured at fair value or at amortised cost.
 Financial assets at amortised cost are those financial assets where the business model for managing

the assets is to hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows (where the contractual cash flows
represent payments of principal and interest only).  All other financial assets are to be subsequently
measured at fair value.

 Under certain circumstances, financial assets may be designated as at fair value.
 For hybrid contracts, where the host contract is within the scope of IFRS 9, then the whole instrument

is classified in accordance with IFRS 9, without separation of the embedded derivative. In other
circumstances, the provisions of IAS 39 still apply.

 Voluntary reclassification of financial assets is prohibited. Financial assets shall be reclassified if the
entity changes its business model for the management of financial assets. In such circumstances,
reclassification takes place prospectively from the beginning of the first reporting period after the date
of change of the business model.

 Investments in equity instruments may be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.
When such an election is made, it may not subsequently be revoked, and gains or losses accumulated
in equity are not recycled to profit or loss on derecognition of the investment. The election may be
made per individual investment.

 IFRS 9 does not allow for investments in equity instruments to be measured at cost under any
circumstances.

IFRS 9 (2010) addresses both financial assets and financial liabilities.

IFRS 9 (2010) incorporates, the guidance in IAS 39 dealing with fair value measurement, derivatives
embedded in host contracts that are not financial assets, and the requirements of IFRIC 9 Reassessment of
Embedded Derivatives.

Under IFRS 9 (2010), the classification and measurement requirements of financial liabilities are the same
as per IAS 39, barring the following two aspects:
 The fair value option: Fair value changes for financial liabilities (other than financial guarantees and

loan commitments) designated at fair value through profit or loss, attributable to the changes in the
credit risk of the liability will be presented in other comprehensive income (OCI). The remaining change
is recognised in profit or loss. However, if the requirement creates or enlarges an accounting mismatch
in profit or loss, then the whole fair value change is presented in profit or loss. The determination as to
whether such presentation would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch is made on initial
recognition and is not subsequently reassessed.

 Under IFRS 9 (2010) derivative liabilities that are linked to and must be settled by delivery of an
unquoted equity instrument whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, are measured at fair value. 

In December 2011, the effective date of IFRS 9 was delayed. The original effective date for annual periods
beginning on/after 1 January 2013 has been delayed to annual periods beginning on / after 1 January 2015.
The amendment also modifies the relief from restating prior periods, in that if IFRS 9 is adopted for reporting
periods: beginning before 1 January 2012, comparatives need to be restated nor does the additional
disclosure requirements of IFRS 7 need to be provided; beginning on/after 1 January 2012 and before
1 January 2013, either the additional disclosure required by IFRS 7 must be provided or the prior periods
need to be restated; beginning on / after 1 January 2013, the IFRS 7 additional disclosure is required but the
entity need not restate prior periods. 
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred tax on investment property

The effective date of the amendment is for years beginning on or after 01 January 2012 and is applied
retrospectively. The group will adopt the standard for the first time in its 2012 financial statements.

The 2010 amendment provides an exception to the measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities in
respect of investment property measured using the fair value model in accordance with IAS 40 Investment
Property. Under the exception, the measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities is based on rebuttal
presumption that the carrying amount of the investment property will be recovered entirely through sale.

The presumption can be rebutted only it the investment property is depreciated and held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the asset's economic benefits over the life of the
asset.

The 2010 amendment also integrates the requirements of SIC-21 Income Taxes - Recovery of Revalued
Non-Depreciable Assets into IAS 12 Income Taxes; as a result SIC-21 is withdrawn.

The exception also applies to investment property acquired in a business combination accounted for in
accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations provided that the investment property subsequently is
measured using the fair value model.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have a material impact on the group's financial statements, as this
principle was applied in accounting for deferred tax in respect of investment properties.

Amendments to IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of items of other
comprehensive income

The group will present those items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss
in the future separately from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The related tax effects
for the two sub-categories will be shown separately. 

This is a change in presentation and will have no impact on the recognition or measurement of items in the
financial statements of the group and the change in presentation is not expected to be significant to the
group. 

This amendment will be applied retrospectively and the comparative information will be reclassified if
required for the financial period ending 31 December 2013.

Amendments to IAS 19 - Employee Benefits: Defined benefit plans

The amendments to IAS 19 will be adopted by the effective date for the first time by the group for its
financial reporting period ending 31 December 2013.

In terms of the amendments, the following key changes may have an impact on the group:
 Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income. The corridor

method and the recognition of actuarial gains and losses in profit or loss is no longer permitted. 
 Past service costs as well as gains and losses on curtailments / settlements are recognised in profit or

loss.
 Expected returns on plan assets are calculated based on the rates used to discount the defined benefit

obligation.
 The definitions of short-term and other long-term employee benefits have been amended and the

distinction between the two depends on when the entity expects the benefit to be settled. 

The standard is expected to have no material impact on the group's financial results.

52



Goliath Gold Mining Limited (formerly White Water Resources Limited)
Financial Statements for the 9 months ended 31 December 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (2011)

IAS 27 (2011) will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending
31 December 2013.

IAS 27 contains accounting and disclosure requirements for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and
associates when an entity elects or is required by local regulations to present separate financial statements.

The standard requires an entity preparing separate financial statements to account for those investments at
cost or in accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

The amendment to IAS 27 will have no impact on the group financial results and is not likely to result in any
changes to the company's financial results.

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011)

IAS 28 (2011) will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending
31 December 2013.

The new IAS 28 prescribes the accounting for investments in associates and sets out the requirements for
the application of the equity method when accounting for investments in associates and joint ventures.

The amendment to IAS 28 will have no impact on the group's financial results.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

IFRS 10 will be adopted by group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending
31 December 2013.

IFRS 10 establishes principles for the presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements
when an entity controls one or more other entities and supersedes IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements. IFRS 10 changes the definition of control so that the same criteria is applied to all
entities to determine control. The revised definition of control focuses on the need to have both power and
variable returns before control is present. The standard provides additional guidance to assist in
determination of control where this is difficult to assess.

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have an impact on the results of the group, but may result in
more disclosure than is currently provided in the financial statements.

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

IFRS 11 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending
31 December 2013.

IFRS 11 establishes principles for financial reporting by parties to a joint arrangement and supercedes
IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. IFRS 11 classifies joint arrangements into joint operations and joint
ventures. A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the
arrangement have rights to the assets, and the obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. A
joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The standard requires a party to a joint arrangement to
determine the type of joint arrangement in which it is involved by assessing its rights and obligations arising
from the arrangement. The focus is not longer on the legal structure. The existing policy choice of
proportionate consolidation for jointly controlled entities has been eliminated. Equity accounting is
mandatory for participants in joint ventures.

The adoption of this standard is not expected to have an impact on the results of the group or the
presentation in the financial statements.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

IFRS 12 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending
31 December 2013. 

IFRS 12 combines, in a single standard, the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, as well as unconsolidated structured entities. 

The required disclosures aim to provide information to enable the user to evaluate:
 The nature of, and risks associated with, an entity’s interests in other entities; and
 The effects of those interests on the entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

The adoption of the new standard will increase the level of disclosure provided for the entity’s interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. 

IFRS 13 Fair value measurement

IFRS 13 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period ending
31 December 2013. The standard will be applied prospectively and comparatives will not be restated.

IFRS 13 introduces a single source of guidance on fair value measurement for both financial and non-
financial assets and liabilities by defining fair value, establishing a framework for measuring fair value and
setting out disclosures requirements for fair value measurements. The key principles in IFRS 13 are as
follows:
 Fair value is an exit price;
 Measurement considers characteristics of the asset or liability and not entity-specific characteristics;
 Measurement assumes a transaction in the entity’s principle (or most advantageous) market between

market participants;
 Price is not adjusted for transaction costs;
 Measurement maximises the use of relevant observable inputs and minimises the use of unobservable

inputs; and 
 The three-level fair value hierarchy is extended to all fair value measurements.

The impact on the financial statements has not yet been determined.

IAS 32 (Amendment) Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

The amendments to IAS 32 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period
ending 31 December 2014.

The application guidance of IAS 32 has been amended to clarify some of the requirements for offsetting
financial assets and financial liabilities on the statement of financial position. The amendments do not
change the current offsetting model in IAS 32, but clarify that the right of set-off must be available today –
that is, it is not contingent on a future event. It also must be legally enforceable for all counterparties in the
normal course of business, as well as in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. The amendments
also clarify that gross settlement mechanisms (such as through a clearing house) with features that both
(i) eliminate credit and liquidity risk and (ii) process receivables and payables in a single settlement process,
are effectively equivalent to net settlement; they would therefore satisfy the IAS 32 criterion in these
instances. Master netting agreements where the legal right of offset is only enforceable on the occurrence of
some future event, such as default of the counterparty, continue not to meet the offsetting requirements.

The amendments are not likely to impact on the results of the group because there is no offsetting of
financial assets and liabilities in the group's statement of financial position.
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2. New Standards and Interpretations (continued)

IFRS 7 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Disclosure - IFRS 9 Transitional Disclosure

The amendments to IFRS 7 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period
31 December 2015.

The amendment requires additional disclosure on the transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9. This additional
disclosure is only required when an entity adopts IFRS 9 for financial periods beginning on / after
1 January 2013. If an entity adopts IFRS 9 for financial periods beginning on/after 1 January 2012 and
before 1 January 2013, the entity can either provide the additional disclosure or restate prior periods. The
additional disclosure highlights the changes in classification of financial assets and financial liabilities upon
the adoption of IFRS 9.

The amendment is not expected to have a material impact on the presentation and disclosure of the group
because there are no significant financial instruments in the group that will be impacted by the transition
from IAS 39 to IFRS 9.

IFRS 7 (Amendment): Financial Instruments: Disclosure - Offsetting of Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities

The amendments to IFRS 7 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period
31 December 2013.

The amended disclosures will require more extensive disclosures than are currently required under IFRS.
The disclosures focus on quantitative information about recognised financial instruments that are offset in
the statement of financial position, as well as those recognised financial instruments that are subject to
master netting or similar arrangements irrespective of whether they are offset.

This amendment will have no impact on the group because no such instruments exist in the group. 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine

The amendments to IFRS 7 will be adopted by the group for the first time for its financial reporting period
31 December 2013.

The Interpretations Committee was asked to clarify when and how to account for stripping costs (the
process of removing waste from a surface mine in order to gain access to mineral ore deposits) to address
diversity in practice. The Interpretation clarifies when production stripping should lead to the recognition of
an asset and how that asset should be measured, both initially and in subsequent periods. 

The implementation of the statement will have no impact on the group's financial results.
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3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
group's accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that
effect the amounts represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available
information and the applications of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the
future could differ from these estimates which may be material to the financial statements.

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below:

Fair value estimation

Financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading securities) is based on
quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period (level 1 of the fair value hierarchy). The quoted
market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price of the Gold One International
Limited shares at the reporting date.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss category are recognised in the profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by an independent valuator using the comparable
sales method. Changes arising from the revaluation of investment properties are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. 

Impairments

Investments in subsidiaries

The carrying value of the total investment (shares at cost or fair value as applicable plus amortised cost of
loans advanced) in each subsidiary is evaluated annually, as a single asset, for impairment or when
conditions indicate that a decline in value below the carrying amount is other than temporary and if there is
evidence that the loans advanced are not recoverable. The impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises. A previously recognised impairment will be reversed, insofar as estimates change
as a result of an event occurring after the impairment was recognised.
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Financial Statements for the 9 months ended 31 December 2011

Notes to the Financial Statements
Group Company

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

5. Operating expenses

Included in operating expenses are:

Audit and accounting fees (Refer note 11) 1 210 858 805 850
Consulting fees 387 1 072 309 1 072
Depreciation 8 8 8 8
Directors' remuneration (Refer to note 29) 579 3 240 579 3 240
Employee costs - 97 - 97
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries - - 21 597 22 617
Impairment on loans to related parties 279 2 558 279 2 558
Legal fees 295 987 295 987
Management fees 7 453 - 7 453 -
Secretarial and listing fees 370 3 985 370 3 985
Operating leases:
   Motor vehicles and equipment 69 96 69 96
   Property 110 54 110 54

6. Fair value adjustments

Investment property 718 - 718 -
Financial assets held for trading 3 300 8 144 - 1 586

4 018 8 144 718 1 586

7. Finance income

Loans to group companies 218 92 2 578 2 906
Preference dividends - - 23 521 28 368
Bank 275 165 260 165

493 257 26 359 31 439

8. Finance costs

Loans from subsidiaries - - 17 26
Other interest paid 3 - 3 -

3 - 20 26
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Group Company

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

9. Taxation

Major components of the tax (expense) / income

Normal tax
Current year (1 102) - - -

(1 102) - - -

Deferred tax
Current year (116) (1 183) - (417)
Prior year (437) 1 575 - 809

(553) 392 - 392

Total tax charge (1 655) 392 - 392

Reconciliation of the tax expense

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense.

Accounting profit / ( loss) 2 631 (6 537) (1 565) (4 535)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28%
(Mar 2011: 28%) (737) 1 830 438 1 269

Non taxable income 2 208 31 7 655 7 974
Non deductible expenses (34) (2 393) (6 081) (8 724)
Tax rate differential 72 1 594 (43) 392
Tax losses utilised 4 - - -
Tax losses carried forward (2 413) (1 243) (1 651) (848)
Prior year adjustment deferred tax (437) 1 575 - 809
Deferred tax asset not recognised (318) (1 002) (318) (480)

(1 655) 392 - 392

Group
9 months

31 Dec  2011
12 months

31 Mar  2011
R '000 R '000

10. Earnings / (Loss) per share

Basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share
(cents) 2.3 (1.6)
Headline and diluted headline earnings /
(loss) per share (cents) 0.6 (1.6)

The basic and diluted earnings / (loss) per share has been calculated on the attributable profit for the period
of R 0.98 million (31 March 2011: loss of R 6.10 million) and weighted average number of 42,462,958
ordinary shares in issue during the period after taking into account the share consolidation, on 13 May 2011,
of one new Goliath Gold ordinary share for every ten Goliath Gold ordinary shares held
(31 March 2011: 388,179,530 before consolidation).

59
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10. Earnings or loss per share (continued)

The headline and diluted headline earnings / (loss) per share has been calculated on the attributable profit
of R 0.26 million (31 March 2011: loss of R 6.10 million) and weighted average number of 42,462,958
ordinary shares in issue during the period after taking into account the share consolidation, on 13 May 2011,
of one new Goliath Gold ordinary share for every ten Goliath Gold ordinary shares held
(31 March 2011: 388,179,530 before consolidation).

Group

Reconciliation of basic and headline
earnings / (loss) for the period 

9 months
31 Dec 2011

R '000

12 months
31 Mar 2011

R '000

Profit / (loss) for the period 976 (6 145)
Gain on revaluation of investment properties (718) -

Headline earnings / (loss) for the period 258 (6 145)

Group Company
9 months

31 Dec  2011
12 months

31 Mar  2011
9 months

31 Dec  2011
12 months

31 Mar 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

11. Auditors' remuneration

ACT Audit solutions
  Audit fees - 262 - 262
  Other services - 2 - 2

Pricewaterhouse Coopers
  Audit fees 793 - 396 -
  Other services - 456 - 456

CAP Chartered Accountants
  Other services 338 138 330 130

KPMG
  Other services 79 - 79 -

1 210 858 805 850

12. Investment property

Group December 2011 March 2011
Cost

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000
Cost

R' 000 
Carrying value

R' 000

Land at fair value 3 825 3 825 3 107 3 107

Company December 2011 March 2011
Cost

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000
Cost

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000

Land at fair value 3 825 3 825 3 107 3 107
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12. Investment property (continued)

Reconciliation of investment property - Group - 31 December 2011

Opening
balance
R '000

Fair value
adjustments Total

R '000
Land at fair value 3 107 718 3 825

Reconciliation of investment property - Group - 31 March 2011

Opening
balance
R '000

Total
R '000

Land at fair value 3 107 3 107

There has been no additions or disposals of investment property during the financial year.

Details of valuation

The investment property represents various properties situated in Jameson Park, Klippoortjie and Rensburg
townships. These properties are freehold and are held for capital appreciation.

The effective date of the initial valuation of the investment property was 1 April 2008. This initial valuation is
updated annually by a valuer. The latest valuation was performed by Mr HD Jooste as Group Property and
Real Rights Manager of Gold One International Limited on 31 December 2011. In terms of location and
category of the investment property being valued Mr HD Jooste has the required experience to conduct the
valuation. The investment property was valued using the comparable sales method.

13. Property, plant and equipment

Group December 2011

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
depreciation

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000

Furniture and fixtures 14 (2) 12
Computer equipment 25 (14) 11

Total 39 (16) 23

Group March 2011

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
depreciation

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000

Furniture and fixtures - - -
Computer equipment 25 (8) 17

Total 25 (8) 17
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13. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Company December 2011

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
depreciation

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000
Furniture and fixtures 14 (2) 12
Computer equipment 25 (14) 11

Total 39 (16) 23

Company March 2011

Cost
R' 000

Accumulated
depreciation

R' 000
Carrying value

R' 000
Furniture and fixtures - - -
Computer equipment 25 (8) 17

Total 25 (8) 17

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 31 December 2011

Opening
balance Additions Depreciation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Furniture and fixtures - 14 (2) 12
Computer equipment 17 - (6) 11

17 14 (8) 23

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Group - 31 March 2011

Opening
balance Additions Depreciation Total

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000
Computer equipment - 25 (8) 17

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 31 December 2011

Opening
balance
R '000

Additions
R '000

Depreciation
R '000

Total
R '000

Furniture and fixtures - 14 (2) 12
Computer equipment 17 - (6) 11

17 14 (8) 23

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - Company - 31 March 2011

Opening
balance
R '000

Additions
R '000

Depreciation
R '000

Total
R '000

Computer equipment - 25 (8) 17

The computer equipment consists of a laptop computer.
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14. Investments in subsidiaries

Name of company %
holding
31 Dec
2011

%
holding
31 Mar
2011

Carrying
amount 

31 Dec 2011
R '000

Carrying
amount

31 Mar 2011
R '000

Witnigel Investment Proprietary Limited %100 %100 29 173 24 560

Loan from subsidiaries - - (163) (315)

29 010 24 245

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are shown net of impairment losses.

Reconciliation of Company's
interest 

Issued
share
capital

R

Effective
holding

%

Date
acquired

31 Dec
2011

Shares
R '000

31 Dec
2011

Loans
R '000

31 Mar
2011

Shares
R '000

31 Mar
2011

Loans
R '000

Brakfontein Diamante Proprietary
Limited 100 100 01/07/1999 * 4 012 * 3 717
Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited 100 100 01/07/1999 * 15 082 * 13 947
IEN Investments Proprietary
Limited 100 100 01/07/1999 55 424 5 256 55 424 4 879
Newlands Minerals Proprietary
Limited 100 100 01/07/1999 1 553 12 370 1 553 11 538
Guild Hall No 22 Investment
Holding Company Proprietary
Limited 1 000 100 27/03/2002 12 837 37 12 837 (4)
Witnigel Investments Proprietary
Limited Preference Shares at
cost plus interest 2 000 000 100 31/03/2006 185 962 - 162 422 -
Witnigel Investments Proprietary
Limited 1 000 100 01/07/1999 1 (163) 1 (311)
Far East Gold Special Purpose
Vehicle Investment Limited
(SPV) 100 100 29/03/2010 * - * 1

255 777 36 594 232 237 33 767
Impairment allowance (226 604) (36 757) (207 677) (34 082)

Total 29 173 (163) 24 560 (315)

* Amounts less than R 1 000

The preference shares represent cumulative redeemable preference shares in Witnigel Investment
Proprietary Limited acquired from JCI Limited ("JCI") for a purchase consideration of R 13,333,333, which
purchase consideration was settled through the issue of 13,825,129 ordinary shares at a premium of
71 cents per share. The preference shares bear interest at the ruling prime rate and are redeemable at the
discretion of the holder of the preference shares.

The loans to subsidiaries bear interest at 9% per annum and have no fixed repayments terms.
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Group Company

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

15. Loans to / (from) related parties

Subsidiaries

Far East Gold SPV Proprietary Limited - - 41 1

Associates

White Water Westward Exploration
Proprietary Limited 2 018 1 739 2 018 1 739

2 018 1 739 2 018 1 739
Impairment of loans to associates (2 018) (1 739) (2 018) (1 739)

- - - -

Loans to related parties - - 41 1

Facility made available to White Water Westward Exploration Proprietary Limited ("WWWE") to the value of
R1.8 million plus interest. 5 % of the shares of White Water Gold Proprietary Limited ("WWG") is pledged as
security for this loan.

The loans bears interest at the prime lending rate from the date that the funds were advanced up to the date
of repayment. The amount lent plus interest thereon is repayable on or before the earlier of 31 March 2012
or the date on which WWWE receives further investment finance.

The loan has been impaired because of doubt over the recoverability of the loan, as a result of the
agreement between Goliath Gold and WWG, whereby the Witnigel Prospecting Right would be transferred
to WWG, being cancelled and WWWE subsequently being unable to raise external finance.

Other

Gold One Africa Limited (840) - (840) -
New Kleinfontein Goldmine
Proprietary Limited (89) - (89)

-

Gold One International Limited (15 435) - (15 435) -

(16 364) - (16 364) -

Loans from related parties (16 364) - (16 364) -

The loans are interest free, no terms of repayment have been agreed and they are repayable on demand.
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Group Company

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

16. Other financial assets

Held for trading

Listed investment:

Gold One International Limited 10 798 23 500 - 4 754

Loans and receivables

Related parties:

Covenent Mining and Finance (SA)
Proprietary Limited (Covenant Mining)

819 819 819 819
Third party:

Marble Gold Proprietary Limited 15 15 15 15

834 834 834 834
Impairment of loans to related parties (819) (819) (819) (819)

15 15 15 15

Total other financial assets 10 813 23 515 15 4 769

The loan advanced to Covenant Mining bears no interest and has no fixed terms of repayment. The loan has
been impaired because of doubt over the related party's ability to repay the loan.

Current assets
Held for trading 10 798 23 501 - 4 754
Loans and receivables 15 14 15 15

10 813 23 515 15 4 769

The Listed investment comprises 2,499,939 (31 March 2011: 7,833,040) shares held by the group and nil
(31 March 2011: 1,584,540) shares held by the company in Gold One International Limited.

17. Financial assets by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group - 31 December 2011

Loans and
receivables

Held for
trading Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
Other financial assets 15 10 798 10 813
Cash and cash equivalents 32 887 - 32 887
Receivables 7 - 7

32 909 10 798 43 707
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17. Financial assets by category (continued)

Group - 31 March 2011

Loans and
receivables

Held for
trading Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
Other financial assets 15 23 500 23 515
Cash and cash equivalents 8 124 - 8 124

8 139 23 500 31 639

Company - 31 December 2011

Loans and
receivables

Held for
trading Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
Other financial assets 15 - 15
Cash and cash equivalents 15 932 - 15 932
Receivables 7 - 7

15 954 - 15 954

Company - 31 March 2011

Loans and
receivables

Held for
trading Total

R '000 R '000 R '000
Other financial assets 16 4 754 4 770
Cash and cash equivalents 8 124 - 8 124

8 140 4 754 12 894

Group Company
31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

18. Receivables

Value added tax 1 102 - 1 102 -
Other receivables 7 - 7 -

1 109 - 1 109 -

No trade and other receivables have been pledged as security.
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Group Company

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

19. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Bank balances 2 264 1 370 2 264 1 370
Trading accounts 30 623 6 754 13 668 6 754

32 887 8 124 15 932 8 124

Current assets 32 887 8 124 15 932 8 124

The cash at the banks and in trading accounts are held at three financial institutions with high quality credit
ratings, namely First National Bank Limited, ABSA Bank Limited and BOE Bank Limited.

20. Share capital

Authorised
200,000,000 ordinary shares of R2.50 each
(31 March 2011: 750,000,000 
pre-consolidation ordinary shares of 
25 cents each) 500 000 187 500 500 000 187 500

Issued
42,462,958 ordinary shares at R 2.50 each
(31 March 2011: 424,629,379 
pre-consolidation ordinary shares at 
25 cents each) 106 157 106 157 106 157 106 157
Share premium 199 485 201 047 199 485 201 047
Treasury shares held by subsidiaries (1 700) (1 700) - -

303 942 305 504 305 642 307 204

Group Company

Reconciliation of number of
shares issued:

Dec 2011
Post-

consolidation 

Mar 2011
Pre-

consolidation

Dec 2011
Post-

consolidation

Mar 2011
Pre-

consolidation

Opening balance 42 462 958 370 547 286 42 462 958 370 547 286
Issue of shares – ordinary shares - 54 082 093 - 54 082 093
Shares held by subsidiaries (1 000 000) (10 000 000) - -

41 462 958 414 629 379 42 462 958 424 629 379

On 13 May 2011 the ordinary share capital of Goliath Gold was consolidated in the ratio of one new Goliath
Gold ordinary share for every ten Goliath Gold ordinary shares held. The authorised share capital has been
increased from 75,000,000 post-consolidation shares of R 2.50 each to 200,000,000 post-consolidation
shares of R 2.50 each.
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20. Share capital (continued)

On 14 December 2010 54,082,093 pre-consolidation ordinary shares were issued for a cash consideration
of R 13.52 million to various subscribers. The issue price of the shares was R 0.25 per share. The
subscribers are deemed to be public shareholders and are not related parties. These shares were issued
under the general authority, to issue up to 15.00% of issued share capital of the company for cash, granted
to the directors at the annual general meeting of the company held on 30 July 2010, in accordance with the
South African Companies Act 2008 (Act 71 of 2008), as amended, the articles of association of the company
and the JSE Listings Requirements. The general issue for cash represents 14.60% of the issued share
capital of the company. The funds were used to provide further working capital for the company.

157,537,042 (31 March 2011: 325,370,621 pre-consolidation ordinary shares) unissued ordinary shares are
under the control of the directors in terms of a resolution of members passed at the last annual general
meeting. This authority remains in force until the next annual general meeting.

Group Company
31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

21. Share premium

Opening balance 201 047 201 552 201 047 201 552
Share issue expense - (505) - (505)
Share consolidation expense (1 562) - (1 562) -

199 485 201 047 199 485 201 047

22. Deferred taxation

Deferred tax liability

(Charge) / credit for the year (553) 392 - 392

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset / (liability)

At beginning of the year - 392 - 392
Current year (116) 1 183 - 418
Prior year adjustment (437) (1 575) - (810)

Closing balance (553) - - -

The balance compromise temporary differences attributable to:

Investment property (492) (392) (492) (392)
Exploration and evaluation assets 2 669 2 395 1 289 1 016
Listed investments (973) (1 001) - (144)

1 204 1 002 797 480
Deferred tax assets not recognised (1 757) (1 002) (797) (480)

Net deferred tax liabilities (553) - - -

Unutilised tax losses available for set off
against future taxable income 181 878 133 297 139 028 133 280
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22. Deferred taxation (continued)

The recognition of the deferred tax asset is dependent on future taxable income against which deductible
temporary difference and unused tax losses can be utilised. Until such time as it becomes probable that the
company will generate future taxable income against which the deductible temporary differences and tax
losses can be utilised, no deferred tax asset is recognised on the statement of financial position. The
recognition of deductible temporary differences is limited to the amount of taxable temporary difference
where the company has a right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the taxes related to the same
tax authority. The group and company has R 9.53 million and R 4.61 million unredeemed capital respectively
available to utilise against future mining taxable income.

Group Company
31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

23. Other financial liabilities

Held at amortised cost
Consolidated Mining Management
Service Limited ("CMMS") - 1 253 - 1 253

Current liabilities
At amortised cost - 1 253 - 1 253

24. Trade and other payables

Trade payables - 841 - 830
Provisions 12 - 12 -
Accruals 411 1 893 394 1 893
Employee related accruals 25 - 25 -

448 2 734 431 2 723

Fair value of trade and other payables

These payables are short term by nature and their carrying value is deemed to approximate their fair value.
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9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

25. Cash used in operations

Profit / (Loss) before taxation 2 631 (6 537) (1 565) (4 535)

Adjustments for:
Finance income (493) (257) (26 359) (31 439)
Finance costs 3 - 20 26

Non-cash flow items:
Depreciation and amortisation 8 8 8 8
Profit on sale of assets (8 101) (333) (2 407) (338)
Fair value adjustments (4 018) (8 144) (718) (1 586)
Impairment loss 279 2 558 21 876 25 175
Reversal of prescribed liabilities (2 082) - (2 082) -

Changes in working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in receivables (1 109) 16 (1 109) 16
(Decrease) / increase in trade and
other payables (1 457) 1 510 (1 460) 1 507

(14 339) (11 179) (13 796) (11 166)

26. Financial liabilities by category

The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:

Group - 31 December 2011

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost Total
R '000 R '000

Loans from related parties 16 364 16 364
Trade and other payables 448 448

16 812 16 812

Group - 31 March 2011

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost Total
R '000 R '000

Other financial liabilities 1 253 1 253
Trade and other payables 2 734 2 734

3 987 3 987
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26. Financial liabilities by category (continued)

Company - 31 December 2011

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost Total
R '000 R '000

Loans from related parties 16 364 16 364
Trade and other payables 431 431

16 795 16 795

Company - 31 March 2011

Financial
liabilities at
amortised

cost Total
R '000 R '000

Other financial liabilities 1 253 1 253
Trade and other payables 2 723 2 723

3 976 3 976

27. Contingencies and guarantees

Contingencies

The group, in the ordinary course of business, entered into transactions which expose the group to tax, legal
and business risks. Provisions are made for known liabilities which are expected to materialise. Possible
obligations and known liabilities, where non-reliable estimates can be made, or it is considered improbable
that an outflow would result, are noted as contingent liabilities.

Other than the matters detailed below, there are no material legal or arbitration proceedings including any
proceedings that are pending of which the group is aware, that may have, or have had during the year
preceding the date of these financial statements, a material effect on the financial position of the group.

In October 2008, the South African Revenue Service ("SARS") delivered to the company an assessment
dated 29 September 2008 in the amount of R 24,460,450 relating to the financial year ended
31 March 2003. The assessment results from an alleged capital gain arising from the conversion of certain
preference shares and a loan account in the company into ordinary shares during or about the 2003
financial year. The board subsequently lodged an objection to the assessment with SARS, following
discussions with SARS and with other interested parties in respect of the assessment. On 9 February 2009,
SARS advised the company that:
 The board's objection had been partially allowed and that there would be no tax liability due to a

revised   assessed loss of R 1,641,441 for the 2003 financial year; and
 An amount of R 484,274 is due in respect of additional tax as a result of the omission of the net

aggregate gain on the sale of various investments. 

The company is of the view that, if levied, a third party is liable for payment of same, based on the fact that it
failed to submit the required information.
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27. Contingencies and guarantees (continued)

Guarantees

Bank guarantees to the amount of R 578,000 have been issued by a financial institution in favour of the
Department of Mineral Resources to secure the group's rehabilitation obligations in respect of various
prospecting rights.

28. Related parties
`

Relationships
Directors Refer to directors' report 
Subsidiaries Brakfontein Diamante Proprietary Limited

Consolidated Resources and Exploration Limited
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holding Company Proprietary Limited
IEN Investments Proprietary Limited
Newlands Minerals Proprietary Limited
Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited
Far East Gold Special Purpose Vehicle Proprietary Limited

Other Gold One International Limited
Gold One Africa Limited
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary Limited

Investments in associates % Holding
White Water Gold Proprietary Limited * 35.00
White Water Exploration Proprietary Limited 30.00
White Water Westward Exploration Proprietary Limited 23.00

There has been no change in the percentage holding in each of the associates during the period up to
31 December 2011.

* On 13 April 2011, the company terminated the agreement between WWR, Covenant Mining and Finance
(SA) Proprietary Limited ("Covenant"), White Water Gold Proprietary Limited ("White Water Gold") and the
company in terms of which the company sold to White Water Gold the Wit Nigel Prospecting Right. The
agreement was terminated by the company on the grounds that White Water Gold and / or Covenant  were
unable to provide proof of funding as required by the Department of Mineral Resources.
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Group Company

31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

28. Related parties (continued)

Related party balances

Loan accounts - Owing by / (to)
subsidiaries
Brakfontein Diamante
Proprietary Limited 4 012 3 717
Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited 15 082 13 947
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holding
Company Proprietary Limited 37 (4)
IEN Investments Proprietary
Limited 5 256 4 879
Newlands Minerals Proprietary
Limited 12 370 11 538
Witnigel Investments
Proprietary Limited (163) (311)
Far East Gold Special Purpose
Vehicle Proprietary Limited 41 1

Loan accounts - Owing by / (to)
other related parties
White Water Westward Exploration
Proprietary Limited (before impairment) 2 018 1 739 2 018 1 739
Covenant Mining and Finance (SA)
Proprietary Limited (before impairment) 819 819 819 819
Gold One Africa Limited (840) - (840) -
New Kleinfontein Goldmine Proprietary
Limited

(89) - (89) -

Gold One International Limited (15 435) - (15 435) -

Treasury shares - held by
subsidiaries
Witnigel Investments Proprietary
Limited at cost 1 700 1 700
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31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011 31 Dec 2011 31 Mar 2011
R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

28. Related parties (continued)

Preference shares
Witnigel Investments
Proprietary Limited 185 962 162 423

Investments in
subsidiaries (at cost)
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holding
Company Proprietary Limited 12 837 12 837
IEN Investments Proprietary Limited 55 424 55 424
Newlands Minerals Proprietary Limited 1 553 1 553
Witnigel Investments
Proprietary Limited 1 1
Far East Gold Special Purpose
Vehicle Proprietary Limited * *
Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited * *

* Balance less than R 1 000
Group Company

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Mar 2011

9 months
31 Dec 2011

12 months
31 Dec 2011

R '000 R '000 R '000 R '000

Related party transactions

Interest paid to / (received from)
related parties - Loan accounts
Brakfontein Diamante Proprietary
Limited (256) (307)
Consolidated Resources and
Exploration Limited (959) (1 152)
IEN Investments Proprietary Limited (335) (403)
Newlands Minerals Proprietary Limited (791) (953)
Witnigel Investments Proprietary
Limited 15 25
Guild Hall No 22 Investment Holding
Company Proprietary Limited (1) -
White Water Westward Exploration
Proprietary Limited 218 92 218 92

Interest received from
related parties -
Preference shares
Witnigel Investments
Proprietary Limited (23 521) (28 368)

Management fees paid to
related parties
Gold One International Limited 7 453 - 7 453 -
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29. Directors' remuneration

Executive

31 March 2011 (12 months)

Short-term
salary / fees

R '000
Loss of office

R '000
Total
R '000

WJ Mann (resigned 23 March 2011) 832 953 1 785
SJ Black (resigned 23 March 2011) 478 204 682

1 310 1 157 2 467

Non-executive

31 December 2011 (9 months)

Fees
R '000

Total
R '000

M Wheatley 150 150
K Rayner 113 113
D Hodgson (resigned 12 September 2011) 74 74
P Lambert (resigned 26 August 2011) 86 86
J Vilakazi (appointed 21 June 2011) 79 79
P Nel (appointed 29 July 2011) 77 77

579 579

31 March 2011 (12 months)

Fees
R '000

Total
R '000

HW Cochrane (resigned 21 September 2010) 120 120
S Swana (resigned 23 March 2011) 293 293
CE Petitte (resigned 23 March 2011) 180 180
PJ van Zyl (resigned 23 March 2011) 180 180

773 773
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30. Risk management

Capital risk management

The group manages its capital to ensure that the group will be able to continue as a going concern, while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The group considers its capital to consist of:
   Share capital of  R 303.94 million (31 March 2011: R 305.50 million); and 
   Accumulated loss of R 273.87 million (31 March 2011: R 274.85 million).

The board's policy is to maintain a capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence
and to sustain future development of the business.

The board monitors the return on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total
shareholders' equity, excluding non-redeemable preference shares. The board also monitors the level of
dividends to ordinary shareholders.

There were no changes in the group's approach to capital management during the year. Neither the
company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

Financial risk management

The group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk and
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk

The group's liquidity risk is a result of the funds available to cover ongoing commitments. The group
manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

The table below analyses the group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal
their carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Group

At 31 December 2011 Less than
1 year
R'000

Trade and other payables 448
Loans from related parties 16 364

At 31 March 2011 Less than
1 year
R'000

Trade and other payables 2 734
Other financial liabilities 1 253
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30. Risk management (continued)

Company

At 31 December 2011 Less than
1 year
R'000

Trade and other payables 431
Loans from related parties 16 364

At 31 March 2011 Less than
1 year
R'000

Trade and other payables 2 723
Other financial liabilities 1 253

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in interest rates impact the value of short-term cash investments and financing activities, giving
rise to interest rate risk.

The group is not significantly exposed to fluctuations in interest rates.

Credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum exposure to credit risk. The maximum
exposure to credit risk at period end were as follows:

`

Group Company
Financial instrument December

2011
R'000

March
2011
R'000

December
2011
R'000

March
2011
R'000

Cash and cash equivalents 32 887 8 124 15 932 8 124
Investment in subsidiaries preference
shares 29 010 24 245

Price risk

The group is exposed to price risk in terms of listed investments held.

If the Gold One International share prices increases / (decreases) by 10%, the fair value will
increase / (decrease) by R 1.08 million for the group.

Post-tax profit for the 9 months would increase / (decrease) as a result of gains or losses on equity
securities classified as held for trading.
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31. Asset value per share (cents)

Group

Dec 2011 Mar 2011

Net asset value per share 72.5 7.4

Net tangible asset value per share 72.5 7.4

The net asset value and the net tangible asset value per share at 31 December 2011 is based on
post-consolidation total issued number of shares, net of treasury shares, of 41,462,958. The net asset value
and the net tangible asset value per share at 31 March 2011 is based on pre-consolidation total issued
number of shares, net of treasury shares, of 414,629,379. 

If the share consolidation had taken place at 31 March 2011 the net asset value per share and net tangible
asset value per share would have been 73.93 cents at 31 March 2011.

32. Subsequent events

In the opinion of the directors, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2011 other
than:

One million treasury shares held by Witnigel Investments Proprietary Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of
Goliath Gold) in Goliath Gold were issued for cash to an unrelated third party on 27 January 2012. These
shares were sold for a consideration of R 3.34 million.

On 8 February 2012, eight prospecting rights were granted to Goliath Gold in the district of Vredendal in the
Western Cape for the prospecting of heavy minerals and rare earths. The date of execution is currently
being arranged. 

On 19 March 2012, all outstanding conditions precedent to the acquisition of the Megamine Business
(as described in note 13 of the Directors’ Report) were fulfilled or waived, as the case may be. Goliath Gold
was relisted on 28 March 2012 and the mandatory offer by Gold One Africa to the Goliath Gold shareholders
to acquire all of their shares for a consideration of one Gold One share for every 1.2 Goliath Gold shares
held, was opened on that date. The offer remained open as at the date of release of the integrated report.
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sHAREHOLDER 

INFORmATION
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 31 December 2011.

1. Distribution of equity Securities

HoLDiNG
NUMBer of

SHareHoLDerS PerceNtaGe NUMBer of SHareS PerceNtaGe

1 - 1000 Shares 1 150 68.53% 236 317 0.56%

1 001 - 5 000 Shares 255 15.20% 650 454 1.53%

5 001 - 10 000 Shares 111 6.62% 889 903 2.10%

10 001 - 100 000 Shares 124 7.39% 3 968 220 9.35%

100 001 - 1 000 000 Shares 33 1.97% 10 195 904 24.00%

1 000 001 Shares and Over 5 0.30% 26 522 160 62.46%

1 678 100% 42 462 958 100%

2. Public/Non-Public equity Security Holders

NUMBer of
SHareHoLDerS PerceNtaGe

NUMBer of 
SHareS PerceNtaGe

Public 1 676 99.88% 23 956 105 56.42%

Non-Public 2 0.12% 18 506 853 43.58%

- PSL Client Safe Custody Asset 1 0.06% 17 506 853 41.23%

- Wholly Owned Subsidiary* 1 0.06% 1 000 000 2.35%

1 678 100% 42 462 958 100%

* These shares were issued for cash to an unrelated third party on 27 January 2012
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3. equity Security Holders

The names of the 10 largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

NaMe NUMBer of SHareS PerceNtaGe of iSSUeD SHareS

PSL Client Safe Custody Asset 17 506 853 41.23%

LLC Pershing 3 698 098 8.71%

Titan Nominees (Pty) Limited 2 524 000 5.94%

Crater Valley Property Investment 1 408 209 3.32%

DS John William Anderson as Trustee 1 385 000 3.26%

KB Bower Investments Limited 1 000 000 2.35%

Witnigel Investments (Pty) Limited 1 000 000 2.35%

Viking Trust 941 500 2.22%

Mr Thabo Felix Mosololi 901 352 2.12%

Invicta Bearings (Pty) Limited 600 000 1.41%

30 965 012 72.91%

4. Major equity Security Holders

Major holders of quoted equity securities in the company, insofar as it is known to the board, who directly hold a beneficial 
interest of 5% or more, are set out below.

NaMe NUMBer of SHareS PerceNtaGe of iSSUeD SHareS

PSL Client Safe Custody Asset 17 506 853 41.23%

LLC Pershing 3 698 098 8.71%

Titan Nominees (Pty) Limited 2 524 000 5.94%

5. voting rights

The voting rights attaching to the equity securities are set out below.

Ordinary Shares

On a show of hands, every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll shall have one 
vote for every share held in the company by such a shareholder.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL 

mEETING
If you are in any doubt as to what action you should take in respect of the following 
resolutions, please consult your Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”), 
broker, banker, attorney, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting of shareholders of the company will be held at the offices of Gold One 
International Limited (“Gold One”) at Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, Ground Floor, Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik 
Potgieter Street, Weltevreden Park, on Wednesday 6 June 2012, at 9am, to conduct the following business:

The board of directors of the company has determined that, in terms of Section 62(3)(a), as read with Section 59 of the Companies 
Act of South Africa (Act 71 of 2008) (“Companies Act”), the record date for the purposes of determining which shareholders of the 
company are entitled to participate in and vote at the Annual General Meeting is Friday 1 June 2012. Accordingly, the last day to 
trade Goliath Gold shares in order to be recorded in the Register, to be entitled to vote, will be Friday 25 May 2012.

orDiNarY BUSiNeSS:

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 1
Approval of Financial Statements

“To receive and approve the Annual Financial Statements of Goliath Gold for the financial year ended 31 December 2011, 
together with the Directors’ Report and the Independent Auditors’ Report.”

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 2
Appointment of Independent Auditors

“To confirm the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers Incorporated as independent auditors of Goliath Gold with Hendrik 
Odendaal being the individual registered auditor who has undertaken the audit of Goliath Gold for the ensuing financial year.”

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 3
Control of Authorised but Unissued Ordinary Shares

“Resolved that the directors be and are hereby authorised and empowered to allot and issue all or any of the authorised but 
unissued ordinary shares in the capital of the company, or to issue any options in respect of all or any of such ordinary shares, 
to such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such times as the directors may from time to time and in their discretion 
deem fit, subject to the requirements of Sections 36 and 41 of the Companies Act, article 7, the Memorandum of Incorporation 
of the company and the JSE Listings Requirements from time to time.”

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 4
Approval to Issue Ordinary Shares, and to Sell Treasury Shares, for Cash

“Resolved that the directors of the company and/or any of its subsidiaries from time to time be and are hereby authorised, by 
way of a general authority, to:
•		 Allot	and	issue,	or	to	issue	any	options	in	respect	of,	all	or	any	of	the	authorised	but	unissued	ordinary	shares	in	the	capital	of	

the company for cash
•		 Sell	or	otherwise	dispose	of	or	transfer,	or	 issue	any	options	 in	 respect	of,	ordinary	shares	 in	the	capital	of	the	company	

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration Number: 1933/004523/06)
ISIN: ZAE000154753
Share Code: GGM
(“Goliath Gold” or “the company”)

(formerly White Water Resources Limited)
M I N I N G  L I M I T E D
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purchased by subsidiaries of the company, for cash, to 
such person/s on such terms and conditions and at such 
times as the directors may from time to time in their 
discretion deem fit, subject to the Companies Act, the 
Memorandum of Incorporation of the company and its 
subsidiaries and the JSE Listings Requirements from time 
to time.”

The JSE Listings Requirements currently provide, inter alia, 
that:
•		 The	securities	which	are	the	subject	of	the	issue	for	cash	

must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the 
case, must be limited to such securities or rights that are 
convertible or exercisable into a class already in issue

•		 Any	such	issue	may	only	be	made	to	“public	shareholders”	
as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements.

The number of ordinary shares issued for cash shall not in 
any one financial year in the aggregate exceed 15% (fifteen 
percent) of the number of issued ordinary shares. The number 
of ordinary shares which may be issued shall be based, inter 
alia, on the number of ordinary shares in issue, added to those 
that may be issued in future (arising from the conversion of 
options/convertibles) at the date of such application, less 
any ordinary shares issued, or to be issued in future arising 
from options/convertible securities issued during the current 
financial year; plus any ordinary shares to be issued pursuant 
to a rights issue which has been announced, is irrevocable and 
is fully underwritten, or an acquisition which has had final 
terms announced.
•		 This	general	authority	will	be	valid	until	the	earlier	of	the	

company’s next annual general meeting or the expiry of 
a period of 15 (fifteen) months from the date that this 
authority is given

•		 An	announcement	giving	full	details,	including	the	impact	
on net asset value per share, net tangible asset value per 
share, earnings per share and headline earnings per share 
and, if applicable, diluted earnings and headline earnings 
per share, will be published when the company has issued 
ordinary shares representing, on a cumulative basis within 
1 (one) financial year, 5% (five percent) or more of the 
number of ordinary shares in issue prior to the issue

•		 In	 determining	 the	 price	 at	 which	 an	 issue	 of	 ordinary	
shares may be made in terms of this authority, the 
maximum discount permitted will be 10% (ten percent) 
of the weighted average traded price on the JSE of the 
ordinary shares over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to 
the date that the price of the issue is agreed between the 
issuer and the party subscribing for the securities

•		 Whenever	 the	 company	 wishes	 to	 use	 ordinary	 shares,	
held as treasury stock by a subsidiary of the company, 
such use must comply with the JSE Listings Requirements 
as if such use was a fresh issue of ordinary shares.

Under the JSE Listings Requirements, ordinary resolution 
number 4 must be passed by a 75% (seventy-five percent) 
majority of the votes cast in favour of the resolution by all 

members present or represented by proxy at the annual 
general meeting.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 5
Election of Piet Nel as Director

“Resolved that Piet Nel, whose appointment expires on 
6 June 2012, in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation 
and who is eligible and available for re-election, is hereby 
re-elected as director of the company.”

Piet’s brief curriculum vitae is disclosed as follows:

BSC, AEP

Piet Nel held various positions within Stilfontein Gold Mining 
for 11 years, including that of chief geologist and planning 
manager. Thereafter, he joined Gencor where he functioned 
as project leader for the company’s anthracite exploration. 
In 1982, Piet founded his own company, Geocapro Services, 
which continues to operate as a geological contracting 
concern to mining and exploration companies.

In 1987, Piet began a 15-year long managing directorship of 
the Geocapro Magnesite Mine, based in the Limpopo Valley 
and, during the following year, he also began a 14-year long 
managing directorship of Venmag, a magnesia processing 
company. Piet has also served as executive director of East 
Rand gold miner Petrex, which was sold to Bema Gold in 
2002, and subsequently served as managing director of Petrex 
for a period of two years.

Piet is also the founder of Petmin, a South African mining 
and processing company that was formerly known as Petra. 
After having previously served as non-executive chairman 
for Petmin for a period of 23 years, Piet currently serves 
as chairman of Petmin’s Technical Advisory and Review 
Committee.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 6
Retirement and Re-Election of Mark Wheatley as Director 

“Resolved that Mark Wheatley, who retires by rotation 
in terms of the Memorandum of Incorporation and who is 
eligible and available for re-election, is hereby re-elected as 
director of the company.” Mark’s brief curriculum vitae is 
disclosed as follows:

BE (Chem ENG Hons 1), MBA

Mark Wheatley serves on the board of Gold One as lead 
independent director and previously served as chairman from 
May 2009 to February 2012.

Mark was managing director and CEO of BMA Gold, the 
predecessor company to Gold One, up to May 2009. Prior 
to BMA Gold, Mark served as CEO and, later, as chairman, 
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of TSX-listed uranium miner Southern Cross Resources, 
which merged to become Uranium One, where Mark served 
as a non-executive director until the end of 2010. Mark was 
previously non-executive chairman of Norton Gold Fields and 
has also served as a non-executive director of St Barbara.

Mark’s early career includes 17 years with BHP Billiton, where 
he was involved in technical, commercial, planning and 
business development roles. This was followed by three years 
at Bankers Trust Australia in project finance, risk management 
and relationship management. Mark then spent three years 
with Gold Fields, where he was responsible for corporate 
development, and served extended periods as acting 
managing director prior to the merger with Delta Gold, which 
resulted in the creation of Aurion Gold.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 6 is that Mark 
Wheatley retires as director of the company by rotation at 
the annual general meeting.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 7
Retirement and Re-Election of Keith Rayner as Director 

“Resolved that Keith Rayner, who retires by rotation in terms 
of the Memorandum of Incorporation and who is eligible and 
available for re-election, is hereby re-elected as director of the 
company.” Keith’s brief curriculum vitae is disclosed as follows:

BCom, CTA, CA(SA)

Keith Rayner qualified as a chartered accountant in 1986 and 
has gained experience in corporate finance since 1987. Keith 
was employed within the HSBC Investment Banking Group 
until 2002, where he advised numerous listed companies 
on various corporate finance transactions. Keith currently 
continues to advise certain clients on a selective basis through 
KA Rayner Presentations, which specialises in corporate 
finance, regulatory advice and training presentations.

Keith is a past chairman of JSE-listed mineral company Afgem 
and has substantial experience in board and governance 
issues. In addition, Keith is also a member of the JSE Issuer 
Services Advisory Committee. Keith currently presents the JSE 
Listings Requirements and the Takeover Regulations on the 
Directors Induction Programme of the Alternative Exchange 
of the JSE, and teaches and examines candidates on the 
JSE’s Sponsor Development Programme. Keith also recently 
assisted the former Securities Regulation Panel in rewriting 
the Takeover Regulations for the Companies Act and was 
a member of the King III sub-committee, which wrote the 
governance principles for takeovers and mergers in 2009.

Keith has sat on various committees and working groups that 
compiled and re-edited both the SAMREC Code and the South 
African Code for the Reporting of Mineral Asset Valuation. In 
addition, Keith is a past member of the Accounting Practices 
Committee.

The reason for ordinary resolution number 7 is that Keith 

Rayner retires as director of the company by rotation at the 
annual general meeting.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 8
Appointment of Piet Nel as a Member of the Audit 
Committee

“Resolved that Piet Nel be and is hereby appointed as a 
member of the Audit Committee, with effect from the end 
of this meeting in terms of Section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act.” Piet’s brief curriculum vitae is disclosed under ordinary 
resolution number 5.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 9
Appointment of Jerry Vilakazi as a Member of the Audit 
Committee

“Resolved that Jerry Vilakazi be and is hereby appointed as a 
member of the Audit Committee, with effect from the end of 
this meeting in terms of Section 94(2) of the Companies Act.” 
Jerry’s brief curriculum vitae is disclosed as follows.

BA, MA, MBA

Jerry Vilakazi was, up until the end of May 2011, CEO of 
Business Unity South Africa, prior to which he was managing 
director of the Black Management Forum. Jerry was appointed 
to the National Planning Commission and to the Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment Advisory Council by President 
Jacob Zuma, and was previously a member of the Public 
Service Commission.

Jerry is currently the non-executive chairman of Netcare, the 
largest private healthcare group in South Africa, and holds 
non-executive directorships that include PPC and Palama 
Investments. Jerry has served on the King Committee on 
Corporate Governance, the National Anti-Corruption Forum, 
Business Against Crime, the SADC Employers’ Group and the 
EU-Southern Africa Business Council, as well as on various 
international business councils.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 10
Appointment of Keith Rayner as a Member of the Audit 
Committee

“Resolved that Keith Rayner be and is hereby appointed as 
a member of the Audit Committee, with effect from the end 
of this meeting in terms of Section 94(2) of the Companies 
Act.” Keith’s brief curriculum vitae is disclosed under ordinary 
resolution number 7.

orDiNarY reSoLUtioN NUMBer 11
Signature of Documents

“Resolved that each director of Goliath Gold and the 
company secretary be and is hereby individually authorised 
to sign all such documents and do all such things as may be 
necessary for or incidental to the implementation of those 
resolutions to be proposed at the annual general meeting 
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convened to consider the resolutions which are passed, in the 
case of ordinary resolutions, or are passed and registered by 
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, in the 
case of special resolutions.”

SPeciaL BUSiNeSS

SPeciaL reSoLUtioN NUMBer 1
Financial Assistance for Subscription of Shares

“Resolved that subject to compliance with the Memorandum 
of Incorporation of the company, Sections 44 and 45 of the 
Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, each as 
presently constituted and as amended from time to time, the 
company may provide financial assistance by way of a loan, 
guarantee, provision of security or otherwise to any person 
to subscribe for any option or securities issued or to be issued 
by the company or related or inter-related company or for 
the purchase of any securities of the company or related or 
inter-related company.”

The directors will ensure that at the time of granting any 
financial assistance, the board is satisfied that:
•		 Immediately	after	providing	the	financial	assistance,	the	

company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test
•		 The	 terms	 under	 which	 the	 financial	 assistance	 was	

proposed to be given are fair and reasonable to the 
company.

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 1

The reason for and effect for special resolution number 1 is 
to grant the board the authority to authorise the company 
to provide financial assistance to any person for the purpose 
of, or in connection with, the subscription for any options or 
securities issued or to be issued by the company or a related 
or inter-related company.

SPeciaL reSoLUtioN NUMBer 2
Loans or Other Financial Assistance to Directors

“Resolved that, to the extent required by the Companies 
Act, the board of directors of the company may, subject 
to compliance with the requirements of the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation, the Companies Act and the 
JSE Listings Requirements, each as presently constituted and 
as amended from time to time, authorise the company to 
provide direct or indirect financial assistance by way of loans, 
guarantees, the provision of security or otherwise, to:
•		 Any	of	its	present	or	future	subsidiaries	and/or	any	other	

company or corporation that is or becomes related 
or inter-related to the company for any purpose or in 
connection with any matter, including, but not limited to, 
the subscription of any option, or any securities issued or 
to be issued by the company or a related or inter-related 
company, or for the purchase of any securities of the 
company or a related or inter-related company as 
contemplated in terms of Section 44 of the Companies Act

•		 Any	of	its	present	or	future	directors	or	prescribed	officers	
(or any person related to any of them or to any company 

or corporation related or inter-related to any of them), 
or to any other person who is a participant in any of the 
company’s share or other employee incentive schemes, 
for the purpose of, or in connection with, the subscription 
of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by 
the company or a related or inter-related company, or for 
the purchase of any securities of the company or a related 
or inter-related company, where such financial assistance 
is provided in terms of any such scheme that does not 
satisfy the requirements of Section 97 of the Companies 
Act, such authority to endure until the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the company.”

Reason for and effect of special resolution number 2

The reason for special resolution number 2 is to obtain 
approvals from the shareholders to enable the company to 
provide financial assistance, in accordance with the provisions 
of Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act when the need 
arises. The effect of special resolution number 2 is that the 
company will have the necessary authority as and when 
required.

The board undertakes that, in so far as the Companies Act 
requires, it will not adopt a resolution to authorise such 
financial assistance, unless the directors are satisfied that:
•		 Immediately	after	providing	the	financial	assistance,	the	

company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test as 
contemplated in the Companies Act

•		 The	terms	under	which	the	financial	assistance	is	proposed	
to be given are fair and reasonable to the company.

SPeciaL reSoLUtioN NUMBer 3
Approval of remuneration policy and directors’ 
remuneration for their services as directors

“Resolved that the Remuneration Policy in respect of the 
directors and the remuneration of directors for their services 
as directors, in terms of Section 66 of the Companies Act, 
as set out below, be and is hereby approved for a period of 
2 (two) years from the passing of this resolution.”

The Remuneration Policy applies to Goliath Gold operations 
and its subsidiaries.

The structure of the annual remuneration for the 
non-executive directors is as follows:

Board meetings

DeSiGNatioN

NoN-execUtive 
cHairMaN

NoN-execUtive 
DirectorS

Base fee R100 000 R25 000

Fee per quarterly board 
meeting

R25 000 R50 000

Aggregate fees per annum 
if director attends four  
board meetings

R200 000 R150 000
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Committee meetings

DeSiGNatioN fee Per MeetiNG* 

Audit Committee Chairman R25 000

Committee Chairman R15 000

Committee Members R10 000

* Committee meeting fees are only payable when a committee meeting is not held on the same day as a board meeting. 

voting and Proxies

A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend and 
act in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the company. For the convenience of registered members of the company, 
a form of proxy is attached hereto.

The attached form of proxy is only to be completed by those ordinary shareholders who:
•		 Hold	ordinary	shares	in	certificated	form;	or
•		 Are	recorded	on	the	sub-register	in	“own	name”	dematerialised	form.

Ordinary shareholders who have dematerialised their ordinary shares through a CSDP or broker without “own name” registration 
and who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must instruct their CSDP or broker to provide them with the relevant Letter 
of Representation to attend the meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend in person or by proxy, they 
must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between 
them and the CSDP or broker. Proxy forms should be forwarded to reach the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 
(Pty) Limited, at least 48 hours, excluding Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, before the time of the annual general meeting.

By order of the Goliath Gold Board
Pierre Kruger
Company Secretary
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Notice of annual General meeting

Notice is hereby given that the 

annual general meeting will be 

held on Wednesday 6 June 2012.
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FORm OF 

PROXY�
for use only by ordinary shareholders who:

•		 Hold	ordinary	shares	in	certificated	form	(“certificated	ordinary	shareholders”);	or

•		 Have	dematerialised	their	ordinary	shares	(“dematerialised	ordinary	shareholders”)	and	are	registered	with	“own-name”	
registration,

at the annual general meeting of ordinary shareholders of the company to be held at Constantia Office Park, Bridgeview House, 
Ground Floor, Corner 14th Avenue and Hendrik Potgieter Street, Weltevreden Park, on Wednesday 6 June 2012, at 9am and any 
adjournment thereof.

Dematerialised ordinary shareholders holding ordinary shares other than with “own-name” registration who wish to attend 
the annual general meeting must inform their Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker of their intention to 
attend the annual general meeting and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant Letter of Representation 
to attend the annual general meeting in person or by proxy and vote. If they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting 
in person or by proxy, they must provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody 
agreement entered into between them and the CSDP or broker. These dematerialised ordinary shareholders must not use this 
form of proxy.

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration Number: 1933/004523/06)
ISIN: ZAE000154753
Share Code: GGM
(“Goliath Gold” or “the company”)

(formerly White Water Resources Limited)
M I N I N G  L I M I T E D
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Form of proxyI/We (BLOCK LETTERS please)

of (address)

Telephone (work) (     )     Telephone (home) (     )

being the holder/custodian of   ordinary shares in the company, hereby appoint (see note):

1.           or failing him /her,

2.           or failing him /her,

3. the chairman of the meeting,

as my/our proxy to attend and act for me/us on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting of the company convened 
for purpose of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the special and ordinary resolutions to 
be proposed thereat (“resolutions”) and at each postponement or adjournment thereof and to vote for and/or against such 
resolutions, and/or abstain from voting, in respect of the ordinary shares in the issued share capital of the company registered in 
my/our name/s in accordance with the following instructions:

for aGaiNSt aBStaiN

1. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Approval of financial statements

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Appointment of independent auditors

3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Control of authorised but unissued ordinary shares

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4
Approval to issue ordinary shares, and to sell treasury shares, for cash

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5
Election of Piet Nel as director

6. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6
Retirement and re-election of Mark Wheatley as director

7. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7
Retirement and re-election of Keith Rayner as director

8. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8
Appointment of Piet Nel as a member of the Audit Committee

9. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9
Appointment of Jerry Vilakazi as a member of the Audit Committee

10. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 10
Appointment of Keith Rayner as a member of the Audit Committee

11. ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 11
Signature of documents

12. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1
Financial assistance for subscription of shares

13. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2
Loans or other financial assistance to directors

14. SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3
Approval of remuneration policy and directors’ remuneration for their services
as directors

Signature of Documents
Please indicate instructions to proxy in the space provided above by the insertion therein of the relevant number of votes 
exercisable. A member entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend and 
act in his stead. A proxy so appointed need not be a member of the company.

Signed at      on       2012

Signature

Assisted by (if applicable)
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Notes
1.  The form of proxy must only be completed by shareholders who hold shares in certificated form or who are recorded on the sub-register in 

electronic form in “own name”.
2.  All other beneficial owners who have dematerialised their shares through a CSDP or broker and wish to attend the annual general meeting 

must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and 
the CSDP or broker.

3.  A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate 
proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space provided, with or without deleting “the chairperson of the meeting”. The person whose name 
stands first on this form of proxy and who is present at the annual general meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those 
proxy (ies) whose names follow.

4.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s 
instructions to the proxy must be indicated by the insertion of the relevant number of votes exercisable by that shareholder in the appropriate 
space provided. If an “X” has been inserted in one of the blocks to a particular resolution, it will indicate the voting of all the shares held by 
the shareholder concerned.

 Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual general meeting as he/she 
deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes exercisable thereat. A shareholder or the proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable 
by the shareholders or by the proxy, but the total of the votes cast and in respect of which abstention is recorded may not exceed the total 
of the votes exercisable by the shareholder or the proxy.

5.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the annual general meeting notwithstanding the death, insanity 
or other legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in respect of which 
the proxy is given, unless notice as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the transfer secretaries not less than 
forty-eight hours before the commencement of the annual general meeting.

6.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to abstain from voting, 
or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may properly be put before the annual 
general meeting be proposed, such proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

7.  The chairperson of the annual general meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in 
compliance with these notes.

8.  A shareholder’s authorisation to the proxy including the chairperson of the annual general meeting, to vote on such shareholder’s behalf, 
shall be deemed to include the authority to vote on procedural matters at the annual general meeting.

9.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

10.  Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing the form of proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this 
form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the company’s transfer secretaries or waived by the chairperson of the annual general meeting.

11.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, as applicable, unless the relevant 
documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or have been registered by the transfer secretaries of the company.

12.  Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

•	Any	one	holder	may	sign	the	form	of	proxy

•	The	vote(s)	of	the	senior	ordinary	shareholders	(for	that	purpose	seniority	will	be	determined	by	the	order	in	which	the	names	of	ordinary	
shareholders appear in the company’s register of ordinary shareholders) who tenders a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be 
accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

13.  Forms of proxy should be lodged with or mailed to Computershare Investor Services (Proprietary) Limited:

Hand deliveries to:

Ground Floor

70 Marshall Street

Johannesburg

2001

Mail deliveries to:

P O Box 61051

Marshalltown

2107

 to be received by no later than 9am on Monday 4 June 2012 (or 48 hours before any adjournment of the annual general meeting which date, 
if necessary, will be notified on SENS).

14.  A deletion of any printed matter and the completion of any blank space need not be signed or initialled. Any alteration or correction must 
be signed and not merely initialled.

15.  A proxy may not delegate his/her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to another person.
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